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CHAIRMAN DAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Deddeh had airplane problems this morning and was
unable to get here from San Diego until very late in the day, so he decided that he would not come. So I
will chair the meetinq. But I wanted to welcome you and to just make some brief comments before we
start and introduce the people that will be taking part, and then we'll get into the hearing.
The reports of gang shootings and killings that we hear of on an ongoing basis and the agencies from
various cities have to deal with are constant reminders of the problem that gang violence is still with us.
In fact, the recent news stories on youth gangs indicated that the problem is an ongoing one and has
reached critical concern within California. Law enforcement officials can see that current efforts,
despite the fact that a lot of money that cities and counties especially have been putting in, should in no
way be viewed as a solution to the problem, that it really is broader and deeper than that.
The Governor signed a number of bills to toughen penalties and to aid police in gang and drugrelated crime, but I think that we all recognize that that's sort of ths front-line assault and that we really
have to do a lot more and go a lot deeper to deal with the issue. We recognize that it is a complex issue.
We all wish that we could have something that was very simple that we could do to take care of the
problem so we could forget it. But it really is the type of problem that means that the whole community
has to become involved. It's not just a police problem. It's not just a church problem. It's not just a
playground problem. It's a total community problem. And of course, it takes a lot of effort to try to bring
together all of those people and all those agencies and to give high priority to a particular p-roblem when
they're faced with a lot of problems including trying to make sure that they're able to be funded for the
next year, trying to provide staff for their own ongoing programs and a variety of others.
So we've invited a number of witnesses from community programs, from law enforcement-- people
who deal with the issue of violence in playground settings, school settings and others to participate in this
hearing. And in that same spirit of developing the full community response to a program, I am pleased
that we're here today as legislators, trying to see if there's something that people who deal with the issue
on a day-to-day basis are able to tell us so that we might be able to help.
We have a committee -- the Assembly has one -- the Senate has a committee which I intend to
disband at the Senate level, because we now have this Joint Committee put together to deal with the
problem on a joint effort of the Legislature, that dealt with the neighborhood problems. We had a series
of hearings in the past year, trying to find out if there's anything that's a clear pattern related to the
issues of neighborhood violence and violence in our communities. We saw a lot of strains in that. We saw
the drug problems. We saw tension and problems of high unemployment of young people. We saw racial
problems that were still existing that needed to be dealt with. A lot of strains, but there was nothing that
we could pick out and say, "This is the cause." Again, it reinforced our feeling that there needs to be a
broad community response to the problem.
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I'd like to introduce a few of the people that are here with us today. On my right is Senator
Bergeson from Southern California, who has done a lot of work in the area of education and is a leader in
the educational efforts in the State Senate. We

Senator Torres, but he's not here. When he gets

here, I'll point him out to everyone. On my left is Assemblyperson Wright, also a Southern Californian,
who is recognized, I think, and understands many of the problems that are faced by people in urban
settings, but has a broad interest in a number of different areas. We expect also Mr. Elder and Mr. Harris,
and I'll point those out when they come. Kristen Chamblee on the far left is secretary to the Committee;
and on my immediate left is Aubrey La Brie, who is the counsel to the Committee. If you have questions
or material that you would like to make sure that the Committee receives, you can give that to him. We
have two sergeants here who will be operating the tape equipment and who will also be available if you
want to get a message to any member of the Committee. Simply check with them.
With that now, I think we will move to the agenda. Our first person is Aleta Cannon, Vice Mayor of
Oakland. Is Aleta here? Let's see, I'm going to skip down then because Herb White, who is Director of
Oakland Parks and Recreation, needs to go to another meeting; and I'm not sure whether he's here yet or
not. If he is, I want to take him. He's not here. Okay, we'll go to Leo Bazile. Is Leo here? He's on the
Council. All right, we'll move right on down and take them when they get here.
Michael Lange. Is Michael here?

All right, we'll take Michael to start off. He's an outreach

consultant for the Oakland Public Schools.
MR. MICHAEL LANGE: Good morning. I would like to say, first of all, thank you for the invitation
to present information which I hope you will find beneficial and could end up in a program here in
Oakland.

I think that the convening of a legislative hearing of this nature suggests that there are

solutions to the widespread problems in our community and that they can be addressed. It will require
tractable and humanitarian efforts, though, that will encourage us to begin to build our youth-at-risk
population into better citizens and that this is not an impossible task. In fact, all of the pieces to the
puzzle are right here in the City of Oakland. But it does require financial support, human support, and
material support if we are going to reach any tangible aims. It is obvious to us that there are too many
young people who have been excluded from the employment arena; and as a result, our neighborhoods-we find that our young people are caught in the center of this conflict.
I have experienced how it has been a very serious deadly cycle of crime and violence, that innocent
people become victims of fear and assault and criminal activities and are almost literally held hostage in
their own homes after dark. And I understand that their fear is genuine, but I also see that the real
prisoners of our community are in fact these youth at risk and that the citizens who reside are more at
risk than the youth that we call at risk.
The point of fact is that the perception of risk needs to be really examined. The Mayor of Oakland
has identified crime and violence as the number one priority in our city. And we undertand that the web
of the violence that these young people are caught in says that we are the ones that are to lead them to
tomorrow if in fact there is a tomorrow for them to step into.
We have read and we have heard the stories. There was unprecedented news coverage here a few
years ago about young gang activities in Oakland and how these young people were attempting to survive
- 2-

these street life developments. But there were very few, if any, alternatives. The problem is one of drug
sales and trafficking, assaults, truancy, and harrassment. The list of the laws that were broken were
endless. And it was about to arrive in a subculture without any rules. And as a result, today there are
some tremendous social adjustments that must be made, and the impact has been staggering. Without a
alternative, the contributions that they make really present a constant danger to us all. We
know statistically that every 27 minutes a murder occurs. We know that one out of four households is
• Considering the current state of our city and our ability to be responsible and to correct
these problems will require a comprehensive plan. We have precious little time to achieve even a modest
turnabout towards success.

Therefore, to reduce the crisis and address the real need will involve

cooperation from across our city and across the state. We must reduce crime and violence and make our
neighborhoods safer. We must change the behavior and create the opportunity for change. We must
consider developing a plan which enables youth at risk to have access to employment, to education, and
to training.
Another important component we must consider is that this employment readiness plan for
counseling and mental health needs to address the issues of remediation, emotional growth, and selfesteem -- things so critically important to becoming successful adults. The bottom line has been, and
continues to be, gainful employment. Earning a living, a legitimate income, has been lacking in our
communities, particularly for our Third World, minority, black, Hispanic youth. Lack of employment is
so critically evident that it explains the dilemma in which we currently find ourselves. The motive
behind drug sales, for example, is really about dealing with the underground economy and gaining access
to wealth, and they do it by any available means.

Therefore, it is this factor which will turn our

ccrnmunities around.
Now, the type of plan that we could develop-- from experience that I've had in working with gang
leaders from six gangs here in the City of Oakland -- is a plan that will allow them to transition to
employment at the same time we're developing their self-esteem, getting them to understand the law
and how it works, providing them with housing, helping them to change the face of their neighborhoods.
made quite an impact. The result in working with twelve gang leaders and their assistants led to
a transition to full-time employment, and this was back in 1983 through 1986; and the result today is that
it did work.

The types of areas that we need today would be educational components which deal with the work
deal with the employment readiness; deal with business math, business English and reading; deal
with self-esteem and attitudinal

d~velopment

and values clarification; deal with small business

development; deal with pride in being a citizen; deal with excursions and tours that will allow them to
circulate around the local community, the state, the nation, and even the world, and to provide
information which deals with their hygiene, their dress codes, their nutrition, and their diet, and finally,
an opportunity to discuss, as in a rap group, the domestic violence issues, the teenage pregnancy issues,
substance abuse, and the law.
Now this type of youth support network, for lack of a better term right now, could be that we could
develop five neighborhood centers that would be designed to meet the needs of young people who hang in
- 3-

street gangs.
""t"'n,n,

We would work with youth who are at risk to work with our citizens in our

We are

about five demonstration

funded at a level of about $200,000 with a
transportation and field
equi

centers, that could be

which would detail the staffing patterns;

the

that are so critically important; the educational supplies; and the

and supportive aids such as audiovisual equipment, recording and phonographic equipment;

operations of a facility which deal with everything from the utilities and rent to the supplies and for
letterheads;

down to the contingency and supportive services;

with probation and parole and legal

with publications; dealing

and even graduation ceremonies.

The existing circumstances suggest strongly that we could involve 75 to 100 young people at each
of these five centers, and that would make a sizeable impact if 85 percent of these young people meet a
success rate where they are transitioned in these neighborhood centers, or academies or teen clubs,
(depending on how you want to describe them). The centers would have four courses and components
helping them to transition through into successful employment. We could address, through the youth
support network, a way to physically improve our community. Even if employment was not the final
result, and we could not gain access to jobs in our corporate community here at Oakland, we could
develop entrepreneurial programs which would allow for them to develop their own business.
In my closing comments, I'd like to say that any program that succeeds must have a plan and must
have evaluation. We must begin to review the progress, measure the objectives, and have a description of
the activities and the results if they're available or the expectations, and provide reports on a quarterly
basis. So, it would take a one-million-dollar budget to develop five centers at $200,000 per neighborhood
center, impacting about 500 young people who are at risk, providing them with the instructional
activities and the priorities to get them out of the margins around the street life developments and gang
activity and begin to transition them, because they are already natural leaders, but they haven't been
identified by the powers that be as leaders in their community. I think that they can protect their
communities, and I think that we've demonstrated that in previous efforts.
I have a couple of documents that I would like to submit to this committee where the Bay Area
United Youth, who in 1983 through 1986 successfully participated with the AC Transit System, which is
our local transit authority, and they effectively began to change the face of their community. They
began to make a major impact on the buses which were being vandalized. And those savings of almost $1
million were turned into employment opportunities for these youth.
repn~sented

These youth, twelve of them,

about 450 other young people who were associated with them. And I think it's time to amp up

or to create a bigger picture and allow for this formula where we have the police department, where we
have the corporate community, where we have the neighborhood communities involved to solve the
problem. I think that the youth will step forward. I think that they will participate in centers like the
Rainbow Recreation Center if it can be given the type of consideration and budget that's required.
So, in closing, I think that an advisory group should be convened of neighborhood people, people who
are the spiritual foundation of our community, people who are the natural leaders, but not necessarily the
elected or appointed leaders of our community, and produce a hoard or produce a council or an nrlvisory
group that can oversee this process. Thank you very much.
-4-

CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, let's see, Senator Bergeson had a question.
SENATOR MARIAN BERGESON: Right, a comment first. I congratulate you on your efforts.
ink it sounds as though certainly the program you outlined is one that does hold a great degree of merit.
My concern, however, is the immediate, where we are at this present time; and of course, I'm more
familiar with the Southern California scene than what you're confronted with up here. But I think it's
probably very much the same in that there are jobs where our young people unfortunately are being
exploited by those employers who would give them lucrative amounts of money to come in and pick up the
trafficking. We need in some way, and this is where I'd like your comment, to establish perhaps a closer
liaison with the law enforcement where perhaps that could be combated perhaps in a closer fashion
certainly with the educational institutions.

Heretofore, oftentimes we become organizationally

entrenched in our own areas and it's difficult to get that kind of close cooperation. So I'd like your
comment as to how you see a closer relationship in how we're really going to cut off the supply source
that is being used to exploit these kids, and no matter how valiant our efforts, we're going to be in a
defeated position without having the ability on the other side.
MR. LANGE: Right. I agree that the problem is the supply and the demand, that we're talking
about the branches of the problem and not the roots -- the roots would be the source, where the drugs
come from, under the Golden Gate and into this neighborhood.

Perhaps that's a job for the drug

enforcement administration, the FBI, the Coast Guard, the police departments to impact that area while
we impact the area where the branches are, the youth who receive these drugs and begin to sell them on
the streets. By the time the drugs get to Oakland, it's been what they call "stepped on" four or five
different times, and it's really very little money that's involved compared to the big money that's being
created before it's coming into this part of the country.
Unfortunately, Oakland seems to be an area that's a drop-off point. There's a lot of drugs here. I'm
a fourth generation Oakland person, and I've seen a lot in the last 15 years, and I think what we have to do
is make a compelling and convincing argument that if you know the difference between right and wrong,
you must choose right. We have to sell that point against somebody who can make $300 a day versus the
minimum wage. The only way I know to get there is to provide value clarification and self-esteem
activities to let young people know that that drug that they sell is equivalent to death, that they are
death, and that murder is bad and that we don't want our conscience to be associated with
that would hurt somebody else in any form or fashion. What they buy with this $300 and what I
would buy with the minimum wage would be two completely different things, and that value has to be
looked at. Money is the bottom line, and we know that. But, if I bought a television that was hot off the
streets hot, and that television was stolen from me, I wouldn't feel bad because I didn't pay that much for
it. But at the same time, if I paid $450 for a television set that I earned at the minimum wage and it was
it would be different. The difference there is the values that we have. We've had kids out here on
basketball courts who make bets of $50 if they can make it through the basket, they've got so much
money.

We're living in a situation right now where the money and the attitude towards money are

completely different. So, we need to develop a plan that shows them how to creatively use their money
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for a future, for their own health benefits, for their

because some of these young people have
need to develop ethics that allow

families, and they need to be able to develop

them to use this money, not spend it, but use it, if I may use the difference there. I think we can do that if
we all decide that we can develop a core curriculum and discuss it, because the briefing and the
debrie

about values around money would make the difference.

SENATOR BERGESON: Well, if I m

interrupt, the concern I have -- you're speaking of those

that are in the system. You have access to those students in order to be able to have that exchange. How
do you get those that are not in the system to become participants, when we have a lot that are out of the
system right now?
MR. LANGE: Okay, the way that I would do it was the way that we did it with the Bay Area United
Youth, which represented the gangs here in Oakland. They went out and recruited themselves.
The problem is that we as adults sometimes don't look at them as part of a formula. On my board of
directors there was the deputy chief of police, four gang leaders, corporate community people, small
business community people, and bus drivers; and I worked for them and they gave me directives. I took
directives from gang leaders to develop programs. I think that the formula is to involve them at the very
embryonic stage of this development of a neighborhood center, and they will in fact go out and recruit.
If we look at the staffing patterns, which I didn't get a chance to express, because of the shortness

of time, but if you look at it, you are in fact employing young people in key positions as well as executive
directors who have specific skills and they can go out and get on the streets and get on the markets. Now,
you may think this may be small, but significant to me is that if you have a budget and you provide the
types of activities that they like, even with food around -- you know, I've gotten grants from all across
the country and everyone of them said, "You can't buy food." That's the one thing that I need the most of.
Because of the nutrition and the fact that people collaborate and convene around food, we can talk about
things; and we need money that has no strings attached to it. We need money that does not look like or
represent the state of California. We need money that looks like and represents the ideas of these young
people that we can move them into transitions.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Ms. Wright.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN CATHIE WRIGHT: I have three questions for you. The very first one is, your
title is Outreach Consultant with the school district. Now how do you actually work within a school
district? I mean, is your main goal as the Outreach Consultant dealing with gangs or are you bringing
some kind of programs, do you make some kind of presentations in the school, what are you doing?
MR. LANGE:

Okay, I'm with SB 65, which is the pupil motivation and maintenance legislation

which came out of Sacramento about three years ago. And I am currently at Havenscourt Junior High
School as an Outreach Consultant, which is to provide intervention and prevention and maintenance
services to youth that are primarily at risk in the junior high school here in Oakland. In fact, this is right
down the street. We deal with kids by providing them with enrichment activities. On Saturdays, for
example, we take them out on field trips to various places; on career days, we take them up to the
airport; and we've taken them all across the state of California, really. And during the school day, if they
are in a situation where they may be suspended, I work with those young people to try to convince them
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that the behavior and the consequences of that behavior can be changed; as a result, we work with about a
young people each week, and we involve them in tutorial services. They are not specifically
we've had situations where the school district has described that as a gang activity where
nine people jump on one person, they may call that a gang and then there's a discipline hearing or
whatever. Then my job is to work with that group and talk about it. It turns out that one group wasn't a
gang; they were a basketball team. But, you know, gangs and basketballs teams and Boy Scouts and
Kiwanis and all that really are gangs by definition because they are groups that stick together. I have
worked with gang leaders, though, in the past right here in the Bay area for about four years.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT:

Another question I have for you:

How would you explain to a

youngster in relationship to drugs-- I think you have to be very honest with them-- and you know, we do
the scare tactic by telling them they're going to die, and a lot of these youngsters know that's not true,
that

not,unless you really overdose. But they feel that---they've seen their friends use it, and they

don't die from it, and yet that's the kind of message we send out. So how do you gain their confidence if
feel you're lying to them with scare tactics?
MR. LANGE: Well, I don't lie to children. I do know that people do die. I wouldn'i. harp on that
issue. I know that what's missing is the spiritual foundation. These young pwple are trying to feel good,
trying to eliminate the madness that's in their neighborhoods, and substance abuse is one of the
ways that they do it. What we have to do is address the neighborhood problems and address the madness
that they live in; the environment has to be looked into, so that the reason that they use drugs, if we could
get to the reason that they use drugs, which I'm saying is to "feel good", to just eliminate some of the
temporary problems that they have; some of it's association, some of it's social peer pressure. But if we
can address those issues, I think that a person's conscience and a person's spiritual foundation can merge.
The fact that there's so much drugs that are available and that they just "try it to try it" is the problem;
and we have to do something on that end of the problem to allow for some other things to happen. There

are a lot of young people who are good, who are not using drugs, and we haven't told that story yet, and we
need to tell it.
/~SSEMBL YWOMAN

no

WRIGHT: In other words, reward those who are not. How do you feel this "say

drugs" works, because after all, I think if you're really going to eliminate the drug problem, you

have to eliminate the market.
MR. LANGE: Yeah, well, no is not enough.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Eliminating the market or cutting down on the market is getting
not to use it. How would you perceive selling to a youngster who sees two things: one, he sees his
friends enjoying themselves if they are participating; and secondly, he also sees that along with
their habit, they all have this extra money to spend? How do you explain to a youngster that
sees this and doesn't have any really strong family support, not to go in the same direction?
MR. LANGE: Well, I think we have to focus on the fact that young people count. We need to let
them know that they count, that they are individuals. What they're looking at is what they want to
participate in, and that's the problem, there's no self-esteem; there's no self-definition; no selfdirection. And "Just Say No" is not enough. It's just not enough. You've got to go beyond and get into the
-7-

why we say no. We have to understand a lot more about chemistry, a lot more about biology
and the human

to understand why we should say no.

you saw the inside of somebody's lungs, or the

inside of someone's body or mind, in terms of how drugsimpact it, you could make a convincing argument.
I think you could say something about why we should say no. But I'm not sure that they see others enjoying
themselves, because that's something that I would like to test.

We could do that in terms of a

questionnaire or an opinionnaire and see if there is this real need to say that "Yeah, I enjoy watching
others use it and I enjoy it myself." I'm not sure of that. What I am sure of is that there is no program that
allows young people to see themselves as a human being that counts, that's validated. They're looked
upon with all these labels: at risk, minority, high risk. And we have to remove those labels. That's a selffulfilling prophecy to call somebody a minority or an at-risk person. Because then they say, "Well, I must
be at risk." Their self-esteem is nowhere on the Richter scale. We need to let young people know that
they are young Americans and that they count. The way we let them know they count is to give them
opportunities and access, access to employment.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: What age group do you think is the best to start?
MR. LANGE: I think about eight years old.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Mr. Harris, you had a question.
ASSEMBLYMAN ELIHU M. HARRIS:

Yeah, one question.

Michael, just tell me this.

You

mentioned the neighborhood centers, and I want to get a sense of balance from you relative to the things
you already are doing. Is it that they're not working or just simply a matter of needing more? We have
Boys' Club and Boy Scouts, recreation centers such as the one we're in, some after-school programs. Is it
the fact that these types of programs aren't reaching the impacted youth, either because they're not
extensive enough, or is it that we need unique kinds of programs that don't currently exist in terms of our
neighborhood program?
MR. LANGE: Your comments are exactly right. Part of the problem is we need to tailor them to
the community. Let's say we use north Oakland, identify central east Oakland, till we get to five centers.
That's one issue. We need an apolitical group. We need a group that doesn't care about the administrative
cost to manage a program. That's the problem. We have people putting feathers in their cap to say we've
got this program here, and there's no commitment. We need volunteerism and we need to look at that as a
strong element to the success of this program.
What we need is a group of people who are committed. If they're committed to the point where
they want to help the young people, their destiny is tied to the youth making it out, that's the group we
need. We don't need people who are there for the job. We need a director, youth directors, executive
directors, and counselors that are participating in a holistic movement and that can clearly see that,
whatever it takes -- and we're talking about PM and AM programs; we're talking about weekends; we're
talking about whatever it takes to move those young people out of that margin and transition them. And I
don't think we've had that in recent times because the Boys' Club has to take care of its corporate
mindset and meet its bills and things, and we need something different.
ASSEMBLYMAN HARRIS:

I guess my point in question is, how do we coordinate all of this

together? It seems to me that we have a lot of things going on; I'm not sure that they all are somehow
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focused on the same purpose. In other words, we have the Boys' Club, the Boy Scouts, many programs
such as this. Is it through the schools, through the city? Do we set up some unique mechanism to make
sure that young people are getting the kind of guidance, the kind of concern that will steer them away
from
MR. LANGE: Well, it's also the neighborhoods, too. That's why I think a critical piece is missing.
And some of that is already organized; we know with neighborhood watch programs that the people in the
neighborhoods who are at risk, the citizens, I think that we have to look at them serving on a council of
some type in each one of those neighborhoods. Let's say that this neighborhood is one, that we have the
Rainbow Center here. The result could be that we have an idea of what types of facilities are available in
these neighborhoods, but that the community emerges with the neighborhoods. There are leaders in
those neighborhoods that have not come forward yet because they haven't been asked. This body can
start that process by saying that we want to have programs in here, and then transition that power over to
the young people and to the neighbors that live here.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good. Well, thank you for your presentation and
taking part with us today.
MR. LANGE: Thank you very much.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I'll introduce Mr. Harris, who recently arrived. Are there any
members who have comments they'd like to make before we go on with the meeting?

Any opening

comments? If not, you can feel free to do the closing remarks then.
Let's see, did Mr. White---did Herb White come? Aleta Cannon? Or Leo Bazile? Okay, going on to
Walter Aldridge. Is Mr. Aldridge here? Okay, Kathleen Sullivan. Not here? Captain Hahn from the
Oakland Police Department. Good morning.
CAPTAIN JAMES HAHN: Good morning. I thank the Committee for the invitation. I see some
familiar faces around here too-- Mr. Harris. Mr. Harris has heard some of this before up in Sacramento.
What we have presently occurring in our society are two problems that have sort of joined together;
and that is, basically, substance abuse and gangs. Gangs are not a new problem in our culture. We go back
to the Daltons, the Jameses, to the modern day outlaw motorcycle gangs such as the Hell's Angels and the
Ravens and a few others. What has happened, however, in recent years is that we've had a melding of
substance abuse and sales of drugs and the gangs, moreso than ever before. And it's been prompted,
by the ease with which powdered cocaine can now be transferred into "base rock". Once that
there's tremendous profits that are found in the sale of "base rock" cocaine.
What I think has shocked everybody is the carnage on our streets and our communities as a result of
these particular gangs fighting over "turf" and fighting over customers and fighting over deaths.
The reality, and one of the things we have to understand, once a "traditional street gang" engages in
activity, it becomes a "drug gang". That's what it is; it is not a traditional street gang in the sense
that we've always given that definition. Before, here in Oakland, we have never had a problem of the
traditional street gangs where people have had their territorial imperatives and quasi social, quasi
criminal behavior. But what we have had for a long period of time is something we're all quite familiar
with -- drug gangs.
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Presently in our country we have probably well over 6 t million addicts, so what you have is a
tremendous demand for the substance. What we also know is we have a tremendous supply. The supply
comes into this particular area through two sources: One is through the ports of San Francisco and
Oakland. For instance, a lot of powder cocaine is shipped here through Colombian shipping lines. It is
off-loaded to swimmers as they enter the Golden Gate, anywhere from 100 to 600 kilos per shipment; and
these coffee ships come in once every fifteen days. There's also tremendous containerized cargo coming
up from Central and South America through our port and we have one customs agent to try to interdict •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Captain, Ms. Wright wants to ask a question.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Yes. If you're aware these ships are coming in, what can we do to
prevent them from getting to shore? You say you know the ships are coming in. (Inaudible.)
CAPTAIN HAHN: I wish I could tell you •••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Coming in every fifteen days, you're saying.
CAPTAIN HAHN: About every fifteen days. I wish to tell you the hours are spent on surveillance
and the hours spent searching these ships by both customs, local police, DEA, Immigration. The problem
when you go into---unless you've actually been on board a ship -- you can't locate the places where you
can hide tremendous volumes of contraband.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: How about these swimmers though? What about these swimmers?
CAPTAIN HAHN: The problem there is being able to spot them when they off-load materials. If
they feel that they're under surveillance, if they see any unusual activity -- you can only surveil is by
having boats out there-- if they see any untoward activity that looks like a police or a law enforcement
surveillance, they just keep it on board and then they off-load it after it docks in parcels. We can search
the ships, for instance, with dogs. But you can only board a ship and go down into the engine room where
most of the time is where it's hidden.

The diesel and gasoline fumes totally take away the dogs'

effectiveness in trying to search it. I speak with experience because I've done it on numerous occasions
over in San Francisco.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Maybe we ought to have a law that if I transport drugs in from out
of state in my car, my car gets confiscated, maybe we ought to have one that confiscates a ship if we find
drugs on it.
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think---of course, this is a federal issue, but that is possible and that is allowed
under the asset seizure law, federal law. (Inaudible.)
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: They only take the yachts ••••
CAPTAIN HAt-IN: Right.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: But if they took a big ship, it might make a difference.
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think we would get some people's attention very quickly if we did that. Maybe
an Avianca airliner, an Eastern airliner or some of the grand Colombia coffee ••••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Mr. Harris.
ASSEMBLYMAN HARRIS: Captain Hahn, I want to shift focus for a moment. Tell me a little bit, if
you can, about what is happening in Oakland to the extent that there are drug gangs. How does our
situation mirror that of Los Angeles? We understand that there are some 70,000 to 75,000 gang members
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or more in Los Angeles County-- various ethnic gangs, various nationalistic gangs that are operating. I'm
not aware of that as a visual problem in Oakland. But to what extent do we have a gang-related drug
as opposed to individuals?

CAPTAIN HAHN:

Historically Oakland has been divided territory by drug gangs. And up until

about three years ago, there were basically five drug barons that were operating in the City of Oakland.
have all since been arrested and four of them are incarcerated; one is now dead, died in federal
three are serving time and one is presently in trial. These were all older individuals, in their late
20s and 30s and these are old in a narcotic drug gang, who were pretty well-established. When they were

taken out of circulation, there was a war; and of course, a lot of their main tenets were taken down with
them. What happened then was a vacuum was created city-wide. And because of the tremendous profits
and then the discovery of how to change powdered cocaine into base rock, what happened was you began

to have tremendous numbers of turf wars as people tried to consolidate those old kingdoms or beefdoms,
if you want to call it that. And the individuals who were doing this were much younger. Much, much

younger. They ranged in age anywhere from 13 to 18; 19 years old would be considered senior members of
new groups that were coming up. And what they were doing basically was fighting ov9r the various old
turfs that existed. And with that, what we had was tremendous gang violenr:e, and we still have that. We
come from a 22 percent drug-related homicide rate in 1986, which was our highest homicide rate in a
year, to 1987, where we had fewer homicides, but the drug-related deaths jumped to 52 percent. This
year, we are running at about one-third; a little over 30 percent are drug-related.
I think we don't have the organization of the gangs that have existed in Southern California, or what
we call traditional street gangs, or the Chicago gangs or the New York gangs or Kansas City, places like

this. We do have some emergence of some Asian gangs here.

Right now their activity is primarily

directed at property crimes. However, at some point, it doesn't take long for people to see the profits of
a kilo of cocaine from a purchase price of $16,000 into $160,000 almost overnight. It doesn't take
very long to see the profit in that.
So, that's probably where we are right now in comparison.
ASSEMBLYMAN HARRIS: Do we have much of the infiltration from the Crips and Bloods and some
the ••• ?
CAPTAIN HAHN: No. Our intelligence people that I've personally spoken to who are involved with
the

and Bloods basically say that the Crips and Bloods don't feel that it's worth trying to come here

because it would be too expensive in terms personnel loss. That would prohibit them from coming into
Oakland.
Anyway, I think one of the things that we have to realize, and I know the Committee has probably
realized as it's looked into this problem, is that there's not going to be any quick fix for this. It's not
something that's going to be solved overnight or that it's going to go away next week, next year, or the
next five years, or probably the next ten years.
I know you asked for us to address some issues about existing legislation and one of the things was
the wiretap law.

We intend to utilize that.

We have not to date.

commander and he fully intends to utilize it.

I have spoken with our "vice"

It's really too early for us to assess any type of
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effectiveness it has. One of the comments made to me was that it is much narrower than the federal
wiretap law and much more restrictive to obtain that wiretap.
We taiked about some needed legislation ••••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: ••• on that point of wiretapping. How do you facilitate and use the
federal approach? Did you by permission from the feds or •••?
CAPTAIN HAHN: The only way you can do that is either drug participation where one of their case
agents presents it to a federal magistrate, or it is possible that you can cross-designate an Oakland police
officer as a federal agent.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Have you considered doing that as you set up your program?
CAPTAIN HAHN: Yes. In fact, what I am doing right now is I have a weapons unit that's assigned to
our homicide section, and one of the things that we are looking into doing is cross-designating our
weapons people as federal agents in order to enforce federal firearms laws, which are much more
restrictive, and the punishment is much higher under federal law than state law. And of course, what
that requires is the district attorney ••• having to designate one of our district attorneys as a U.S.
attorney provided the U.S. attorney accepts that. Because what happens is that local police officer
designates federal agents, we can inundate the federal courts overnight almost, just like if we wanted to
we could grind our own courts to a standstill within about a week. What the federal people say is yes,
provided you provide the prosecutor as well as the officer. So we are definitely looking into that.
We talked---there was some question about whether or not---I'll skip some of the things here -suspending that drug dealer or drive-by shooting perpetrator's driving privileges and if that would have an
effect on reducing the level of violence. I think what we have to understand is that an individual who is
dealing for thousands, hundreds of thousands and sometimes millions of dollars, and if he is willing to go
out and protect his turf and take an assault rifle and go and blow away his opposition or anyone that
happens to be standing on a crowded street corner with hundreds of innocent people around, he's not
really going to care whether he has a suspended or revoked license.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yes, Senator Torres.
SENATOR ART TORRES: Yes. We have now passed the Robbins-Gwen Moore bill, Senate Bill
1555, which I think you may be familiar with. We passed the wiretapping bill. We have passed another
tough bill in terms of forfeiture, Assemblywoman Waters' bill on forfeiture of property. Is what remains
merely a task of providing sufficient revenues for equipment and officers that is lacking? Or do we still
need different laws to effect the problem as you see it?
CAPTAIN HAHN: Well, I think, we probably need a combination. When you say more officers, yes,
we can't even fill our beat structure right now with uniformed officers. We cannot make promotions. I
have 17 vacancies for investigator positions in the Criminal Investigation Division, and they're not being
filled because we can't promote the police officers to that position because it would take them off the
street. This is the suffering from Prop. 13.
The other problem that we have is locating qualified candidates to come into thA job. When I
started this business 22 years ago, the pass rate was about 3 percent of applicants. Right now we are
running at about

t

of one percent are the people who make it through the entire screening process from
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to oral board and psychological background checks.
SENATOR TORRES: This is the Oakland Police Department?
CAPTAIN HAHN: Yes, and it's not a phenomenon that's with us either. The national rate of
or the number of people that are eliminated because of the drug problem and abuse by people is
incomparable to the past A lot of our recruits are ••• (Inaudible due to background noise). And I'm talking
hard drug use. I'm not talking marijuana or anything like that. I'm talking hard drug abuse.
What about equipment? I think I don't know if I'm correct, Senator, but I think maybe you're talking
about arming us with the full impact weapons or things like this that •.••
SENATOR TORRES: Yes, the property taxes in Los Angeles and the meetings I've had with Chief
Gates as well as with Sheriff Block and others in Los Angeles County seem to indicate that the dope
dealers are out there, and the people, especially gang members, have much more sophisticated weaponry
than the police officers who we're placing out there to risk their lives.
And I want to make a point here in terms of this hearing -- we're not supporting the police officers
in terms of the revenues, because of the lack of leadership in Sacramento in terms of taxes that
would provide those revenues to deal with law enforcement. And I just want to make s•Jre that ;=dl of our
colleagues on this panel are aware of the lack of equipment, the competition, that we are at a
disadvantage in terms of law enforcement officers that are out there competing with gangs and other
types of criminals.
Secondly, what other laws do you think we need to make sure that we take care of this problem?
Because the victims that are happening out there are---now we're witnessing in Los Angeles County
where gang members are shooting police officers. That was never the case before. And so, we're
a very critical point here in terms of that interaction, at least in Los Angeles County.
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think that's everywhere. The profit motive is so great that it's not only our
officers who are getting killed and aren't safe, but we are not that far from the type of
intimidation that occurs in Colombia where even people sitting in your positions would not be safe. And
that is not an exaggeration.
One of the things we have to re-examine, I think, is our laws governing weapons. Supervisor Perata
held a meeting recently with the Alameda County Board of Supervisors, just recently and testimony was
taken from a variety of people including drug dealers from throughout the county-- not drug dealers, the
gun

and the question that was really posed to them was, "Why are they able to sell assault rifles

and

do they sell assault rifles across the Bay to anybody that comes in with a driver's license and a
And their response basically was that "It's legal." And yet, if we want to purchase a two-shot

.22 calibre derringer, we must wait 15 days in the State of California. But if any one of you wanted to
down to a local gun dealer here, you can walk in

(Inaudible due to microphone noise.)

and

an automatic rifle with 90 rounds, but in 15 minutes you can fill out a federal form that asks you
fifteen questions. The problem with that AR-15, that .223 --I did not bring a training tape; it runs 22
minutes -- but you take a standard issue round of .223, and we put a round through a police vest, through a
rubber water jar, and the bullet exited the rear of the police vest. It went through and through.
One shot.
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We had a security officer shot up just recently. Four weapons were used --an AR-15 .223, a Uzi
9mm and an AK-47, which was the Russian assault rifle and somebody there had a .380 semi-automatic
pistol (Obviously he was under-armed, but it was his support.)-- he must have been the officer-in-charge.
The bullets went through the entire building, entered one wall, transversed the entire room, the security,
and exited out the other side. The problem, then, with arming us with that type of weapon is we could
very, very seldom ever use it. You know, only in special-type circumstances. If I was armed with an Uzi
and let that go at a bank robbery, I would have as much chance as any innocent citizen or suspect.
SENATOR TORRES: So what do we need to do in terms of gun registration?
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think---you know, I'm not saying that we outlaw them, but I think we have a law
that says you can't buy a .22 calibre derringer, single shot or two shot, and you have to have a waiting
period of fifteen days. I don't see any problem with making that same restriction or that same control or
that same waiting period to apply to assault rifles. I know that certain groups have said you can't define
an assault rifle and they say they can't come up with a proper definition. The meeting that an Army man
said, "Well, we can't---we've sat with the Attorney General and we've sat with members from the
Assembly and from the Senate and we can't come up with a definition of an assault rifle." And I said,
"What is wrong with an assault rifle that is just considered anything that has a 16-inch barrel or longer,
anything that is 26 inches overall length or longer, a semi-automatic in nature and has a magazine
capacity of more than six rounds." He says, "Well, yeah, I guess you could use that." Darn right, you
could.
I have been a member of the NRA. I was born and raised on a ranch in Southern California. My

father was a hunter. His rule was, you hunt and you put it on table; otherwise, you don't hunt.
I have been deer hunting since I was 9 years old. I haven't gone now for probably 15 or 20 years.

But -- I'm giving away my age, aren't I? (Laughter.) Anyway, that entire time the largest capacity of
weapon that we ever carried was a five-round magazine capacity. Anything else was not sporty. You're
not going to go out with a 90-round AR-15 and shoot a deer. I mean, you're not going to have any---you
won't even have the horns left.
SENATOR TORRES: Why not outlaw those guns then?
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think, realistically? I think it would take a lot of political guts.
SENATOR BERGESON: (Inaudible.)
SENATOR TORRES: You may tell Richardson to retire ... (Laughter.)
CAPTAIN HAHN: No. But it's amazing that the latest studies have shown that throughout the
country, the vast, vast majority of people support gun registration, gun controls of some sort, even gun
owners. But the reality is that certain lobbyist groups can put tremendous amounts of money into defeat
people for reelection.
SENA TOf~ TORRES: Even in respect to those weapons that you've outlined which clearly are not
used for sport, that are clearly for purposes other than sport?
CAPTAIN HAHN:

I think there would be tremendous resistance throughout.

realistic.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Bergeson.
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I'm just being

SENATOR BERGESON: Yeah, a follow-up on that. Have you been able to establish where these
guns come from? I presume when they're confiscated, there should be some way of tracing, whether they
were

whether it was an illegal purchase. We're finding kids, pre-teens, that are carrying

weapons around. How in the world did they get them?
CAPTAIN HAHN: As I said, it's really quite simple. The hearings we had were an eye-opener for a
lot of people. But about 75 percent of the assault rifles, and I'm speaking just of assault rifles, that we
used in crimes were easily purchased right across the counter. A lot of them were purchased
the drug dealers themselves. What happens •••
SENATOR BERGESON: You say they were illegally purchased?
CAPTAIN HAHN: Legally.
SENATOR BERGESON: Oh, legally.
CAPTAIN HAHN: Legally purchased. Probably about 3 or 4 percent of them were stolen, not much
more than that. Then you have another percentage that's involved with what's called straw sales. And
what that is, is a person who's a drug dealer, who's making all this money, walks down to the nearest DMV
office. He buys off a clerk from the DMV office. He gets his new driver's license. !1e take:; that new
driver's license with his picture, calmly walks into the gun dealer, puts it ::!own and says, "I want two of
those and four of those and six of those and 5,000 rounds of ammunition."

And he can walk out in

15 minutes with that. And that's with a phony name, a phony address -- it cost him probably $100.

SENATOR BERGESON: What burden of responsibility now exists on the seller, the vendor. Don't
have to verify or have some forms that they go through in order to •.• ?
CAPTAIN HAHN: All they do is they fill out a federal form, 4573 form or something of that nature.
I think it asks 15 questions: Are you a drug addict? Are you a convicted felon? and it goes on down the list
like that. And if the person says no to all of those, then he says, "Fine, sign here," and he gives him his
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

You're right about that issue of the gun legislation, because

there's a new poll that shows nationally as well as from the West, California, all areas, people support
waiting periods. However, it never gets couched that way when you're running for election. When
running for election, H. L. Richardson puts out his pieces saying you're a gun grabber and that
supported legislation which will prohibit ownership of guns, and there the public drops down and
don't want to prohibit ownership of guns. So it does have---you don't get a chance to explain it.
Somehow or other we've got to turn it around so it becomes a law enforcement issue, and that if you
it, you're supporting law enforcement; if you oppose, then you're against law enforcement.

That's harder for Richardson to bring •••
CAPTAIN HAHN: I think what you find is that law enforcement is being very supportive of those
issues.

I know the International Association of Chiefs of Police was very, very supportive of the

regulating at the federal level. And I know that in Florida it constitutes ••••
SENATOR BERGESON: How about a leadership role?
CAPTAIN HAHN: Well, I think that's why I'm here today addressing this issue. And as Mr. Harris
knows, I'll address it everywhere I go. That's not only from a personal, real belief, but I've spent five
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years as a homicide investigator in this city and two years as a homicide commander. I know what those
weapons can do.
But my position is supportive both ••• (Inaudible due to background noise.)
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay, let us go ahead and ••••
CAPTAIN HAHN: (Inaudible.) ••• outlined one of the---some of the things I think the rest of the
community, I think everybody's going to tell you this, "We can't stop it by ourselves, the police
department; it's impossible." We can try to hold it there, but that's about it. We're not going to win the
war. The whole community is going to have to pitch in. And before the war is over, there is going to be a
lot more casualties. Some of them are going to be police officers, and some of them are going to be loved
ones, innocent loved ones, and it's unfortunate.
I want to thank you very much.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Very good. Thank you, Captain. Appreciate your coming.
I think Kathleen Sullivan came in. And she has---so we'll go back to her.
MS. KATHLEEN SULLIVAN: How are you, Senator Torres?
SENATOR TORRES: Pretty good, thank you.
MS. SULLIVAN: Been behaving yourself?
SENATOR TORRES: No. (Laughter.)
MS. SULLIVAN: Care to tell us about it? (Laughter.)
SENATOR TORRES: (Inaudible.)
(Inaudible comments.)
MS. KATHLEEN SULLIVAN: Good morning. My name is Kathleen Sullivan. I'm the executive
director of Oakland Youth Corporation, and I'm pleased to have been asked to address the Joint
Committee on Organized Crime and Gang Violence this morning along with some young people that are
graduates of my program. We will also show you a video this morning. I have been working here in the
Oakland area for approximately five years and fortunately have been able to contribute to two model
programs that are currently operating. Both have been attempts to deal with the issues around youth:
One of them being the East Oakland Youth Development Centers, Job Opportunities for Youth Program,
which I came to Oakland to start and pilot and it is successfully. operating and dealing with employment
and training needs of low-income and inner-city youth. Finally and currently, I am operating a youth
entrepreneurial program and business development program that is used as a statewide as well a national
model.
It may be interesting to see us here considering the subject area, but in reading the letter that came
to us, it looked as if there was a sincere interest to look at alternative, motivational programs, and look
at those that have managed to move on regardless of financial support or lack of it.
,1.\s I've said, our program provides entrepreneurial training, technical assistance and other support
to youth businesses between the ages of 16 and 24. OYC is coming to the end of three years of contract
dollars that were made available to the State Employment Development Department, which were dollars
originated with legislation authored by California State Senator Nicholas Petris.
Now, Oakland Youth Corporation actually incorporated in '82, but we didn't receive major sources
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of funding until the legislation was passed and the dollars made available in '85. So we operated for
years on small grants, small sources of city money, working directly with youth, predominantly in
the East Oakland area.
The opportunity we have with the situation: A serious struggle is now going on to rescue a large
o'f American youth, especially minorities, from poverty, alienation, and despair. Increasingly
numbers of youth are illiterate, involved in drugs or alcohol or criminal activities, pregnant, poor,
unemployed, unsupported by stable home or community environments, and in poor mental and physical
condition. The evidence is clear that the existing strategies directed towards altering these realities are
fragmented and ineffective.
Small business start-up is a large scale employment trend across the United States. For instance,
Oakland in 1986, a Private Industry Council employment study found that over 60 percent of all entry
level jobs are linked to small businesses of less than 5 employees. The study also indicated retail sales
and services are areas of significant growth in the immediate future of Oakland. Both these areas are
suitable for small business development with youth, since there are opportunities to initiate businesses
with little capital.
Oakland Youth Corporation reasoned that youth have the capability to learn to plan and run small
businesses, and thus create jobs for themselves and others. The organization began to develop and
employ solutions responsive to the needs of high-risk youth, inner-city youth who possessed high promise
but meager resources.
The validity of this reasoning is being supported by the program's outcomes. Not only are jobs being
created, but this program is generating in youth attitudinal shifts towards alignment with the
Accompanying this change is the development of personal pride, self-esteem, and selfreliance rarely produced by traditional employment and training programs. And this is not by accident.
OYC's philosophy distinguishes "enterprise" development from "entrepreneurship" by placing the
development of any new business venture into the context of both personal and community economic
development. Enterprise development includes looking at the enterprise system in the community with
growth and impacting those systems positively as a result of entrepreneurial activities. Thus,
trained as entrepreneurs learn to conduct business ventures in ways that are responsive to the
needs of the community, as well as the needs of the bus!ness owner. OYC youth are social as well as
commercial entrepreneurs.
OYC was founded in 1982 by myself and a handful of volunteers as a way of creating jobs in Oakland
for inner-city youth. In the intervening years, OYC has grown from '86 to '88 by having received the
money from the State of California Employment Development Department, who modeled this concept
here in Oakland as one of two state model programs; the other located in Los Angeles.
OYC offers outreach, recruitment, counseling, referral, training, financial support, technical
and follow-up to youth in Oakland and as well in the nine San Francisco Bay Area counties.
OYC targets high-risk inner-city youth who are attracted to the idea of starting their own businesses.
For those youth who move through the program and decide against opening a business immediate, OYC
offers job placement services into small businesses.
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OYC's centerpiece is a training program currently consisting of 115 hours of classroom training,
presented by leading entrepreneurs and youth

in the San Francisco Bay Area. A

broad group of business professionals offer one-on-one and small group technical assistance and
mentoring to youth in all phases from small business start-up on to the whole operation of the business.
The program has also accessed a grant fund, also a part of the legislation and the dollars that we've been
operating under, to offer small grants to the youth who are graduates of the program to use as start-up or
equity capital.
OYC has evolved as a model program with potential of national replication and broad linkage in
other communities. In fact, a primary objective of OYC is to develop a National Youth Enterprise
Resource Center. Since there exists no central repository of information related to youth enterprise
development, OYC hopes to in the future establish a national electronic resource center to respond to
the

needs of educators, employment and training professionals, youth specialists and

entrepreneurs.

Statistical data, program models, assessment

instruments, legal

youth

information,

curriculum, technical assistance, and networking support are areas where we're currently providing
information to other cities. We hope to be a little bit more organized and deliver that kind of information
in the future.
OYC asks that the committee take back to Sacramento recommendations to continue to support
program efforts like this. The program represents innovation, which is very much needed, hope for the
future of youth; and we need to desperately find a way for youth to productively participate in the
mainstream of our economy.
I'd like to show a video that was produced by Channel 7 just recently that features-- and it depends
on how much of it we'll show; we may just show a small piece of it -- but features a couple of the youth
who are graduates of the program, one of which is here with us today. And I do have three youth that are
going to all take their two minutes to speak, so I want to go on
-- Showing of Video -MS. SULLIVAN: Thank you. Are there any questions about this part, because I want to say that the
young people have a lot of ideas of their own.

They may not necessarily tie directly into this

presentation, so if I can answer some questions ••••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Torres.
SENATOR TORRES: How much money do you receive in grant money and from what agency?
MS. SULLIVAN: Right now, the Employment Development Department •••
SENATOR TORRES: EDD.
MS. SULLIVAN: ••• is the agency that was---who took an interest and administered the grant for
the last three years. It's a three-year allocation of dollars. We are not certain that EDD is going to be the
one that is interested in carrying this on. As a matter of fact, we just met recently and we're trying to
figure out where in fact the resources will come from to keep this thing operating beyond now. But
Senator Petris had an interest in obviously seeing this thing through, and I think he has been a major
vehicle to make it happen.
SENATOR TORRES: What kind of money are we talking about?
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MS. SULLIVAN: Our program's annual budget is about $250,000.
SENATOR TORRES: That's totally from EDD?
MS. SULLIVAN:

Right now, it isn't. We're obviously soliciting other foundation and corporate

sources, and as other contributors, we're working with Chlorox and Digital and a few other
SENATOR TORRES: How much does the state ••• ?
MS. SULLIVAN: The state gave $736,000 three years ago.
SENATOR TORRES: Three years ago for a three-year program.
MS. SULLIVAN: Right, for a three-year program. That was their contribution to the program.
SENATOR TORRES: Thank you.
SENATOR BERGESON: What kind of outreach do you have to solicit ••• ?
MS. SULLIVAN: Well, our program, being a model program for the last three years, sought to do
outreach to every community in the Oakland area so that we can see what kind of outcome could happen
with a well-rounded racial mix, but definitely targeting low-income inner-city youth. We found out some
very interesting things. We also targeted high school dropouts. We found that (1) there was a much larger
population of black youth who have successfully completed the program and we naturally have an
evaluation study that was just finished on the three-year project. The report will be available in about 30
in its final form. I just read a draft of it last night, so I'm giving you information that's very
interesting to me because they collected and analyzed all our data; they also determined from our
recruitment, talking to people at our recruitment sites, that there are definitely more interests in
certain racial groups about entrepreneurial activities than there are in others. There are some families
that are more interested in their kids going on to work for corporate America, getting a job and seeing
th:::tt as the "American dream".

Clearly, in a lot more of the black communities and Hispanic

communities, they're not necessarily seeing that as the direction to take, which I think the report relates
a lot more to them exploring their own businesses and self-employment.

These are some of the

conclusions that the study or the evaluation has drawn from our three years' experience.
I might add that we are only one of about three programs in the country, and I have visited the
others that are involved in this. Oakland happens to have pioneered and incorporated this concept for any
other program that's dealing with inner-city youth in this area in the country. And I think we should be
from that extent that we actually saw entrepreneurship as a vehicle and got started with it.
What I found in my travels were the other program models actually were replicated from Prince
Charles Foundation in London, England, who used this as a way of dealing with crime and problems that
were having with British kids, in years past. I mean at the time, but having traveled and seen that
our model was so similar to some of these other programs, they said, "Well, we copied the British model."
what is the British model? I didn't know anything about that. Come to find out, they enterprised
the concept to do something that would help them to deal with their juvenile delinquency problems there
in Britain back in early 1980.
So it's funny how things have come together from coast to coast and different parts of the world.
This is a very new area which has contributed much to why allocating and locating dollars has been
difficult. In any pilot program, you're promoting innovation, but that's a part of it.
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SENATOR BERGESON: Are you able to accommodate all who are interested in it or do you have a
limit to placement?
MS. SULLIVAN: We're not able to accommodate (1) the number that are interested nor (2) provide
the technical assistance needs of the businesses for survival. We are doing outreach to many of the
professional business organizations -- the National Association of Accountants and MBAs. It's turning
out that we are going to be very much a high volume volunteer organization, which is perfect in many
cases. Price Waterhouse, just in the last two weeks, is going to be offering us technical assistance people
that are people from their firm that will come and work with the businesses, doing technical assistance.
So, there's going to be volunteer support, but clearly there's still financial support that's needed in order
to move this whole thing along.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

Well, very good. Thank you. And now you have some young

people that are going to .••
MS. SULLIVAN: Yes. I'd like to first introduce one of our graduates, Mike Simpson, who has a real
estate business.
MR~

MICHAEL D. SIMPSON: Hi, good morning.

CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Good morning.
MR. SIMPSON: My name is Michael D. Simpson. I might just read from my prepared statement.
My approach to the problem of drugs, unemployment and violence in the community is based upon
looking at the various stages of development in a person's life. I therefore focus largely on youth not out
of a belief that they are the sole problem, but out of a belief that we must take preemptive measures that
prevent the possibility of future problems. All too often, we wait until many of our options are cut off
before we try to do something about a situation that we could see was going to cause a problem in the
future.
Many of the youth that end up selling drugs were good kids at one point in time. As they got older,
they began to notice how their parents were being treated. They also realized that the powers that be
didn't have a place for them in this society and weren't planning to provide one. Faced with a standard of
living at or near the poverty level, and overwhelming odds against the majority of them finding decent
employment, many turned to selling drugs. With the institutionalization of the drug culture, the black
community is being torn between drug abuse and turf wars on the one hand, and the money being made by
selling drugs on the other. In many cases, drug dealers are the only people in the community that always
have money.
Discrimination against blacks starts at an early age. In this post civil rights era, it may in fact be
levied the harshest during the adolescent years. Black youth are victimized not only by a society that
apparently views them as a threat, but also by middle class blacks who have largely bought into the
stereotype that society has placed on black youth. It's a disgrace that blacks have to be 40 years old
before thoy cnn receive any respect from society at large. Traditionally, attention in paid to black yotrth
only when they become "a problem". In the case of drugs, adults use drugs just as much as kids and are
ultimately the power behind drugs in our community.
Another reason for the desperate situation we now face is the band-aid solutions that politicians
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have employed as a token response to a black community which in many cases was responsible for their
elected. Public hearings such as this usually end with the politicians patting themselves on the
back with no commitment to following up on possible solutions to the problem. Meanwhile the black
continues to suffer (in order of occurrence) from unemployment, drugs, and violence. Only in
the current crisis has the black community begun to realize that the long-term solution will come from
within and not from without.
SENATOR TORRES: Hear! Hear!
MR. SIMPSON: What many youth yearn for is a sense of hope for their future. This is true of not
urban youth, but many suburban youth as well. The most direct solution is to develop an educational
system that will prepare our youth for real jobs with real promise for the future. What discourages many
black youth is the discriminatory double standard employed in the legal justice system and the job
market. These practices must be stopped if we are to provide a functional place in society for blacks.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Very, very good. Thank you.
MR. SIMPSON: Any questions?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: May I ask you a question? How old were you when ycu started?
MR. SIMPSON: Started what?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Started your business.
MR. SIMPSON: 22. I actually got my license at age 20. I'm currently an agent and I've started my
business.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Good.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right. You have two others.
MS. SULLIVAN: This is Steven Delk, of Delk's Gardening and Lawn Maintenance Service.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Good morning.
MR. STEVEN DELK: Hi, I'm Steven Delk and I have my own gardening and maintenance business
here in the Bay Area. I'm 24 years of age and like I say, gardening and maintenance is the service that I'm
to the community from trimming trees to grass cutting, hauling, overgrowth and starting
etc.
I found myself raised the hard way in the ghetto. I used to be an ex-pusher, in and out of jail for
crimes like from burglary, selling drugs on the street corners, robbing anybody I could just to get a
and from experience, mentally and physically, lack of education played a big role. I didn't know
how to fill out an application and was ashamed to let somebody know that I didn't. It drove me kind of like
crazy. Now that I'm saying it to youth, a lot of them are following in my footsteps and that's because,
most of the youth drop out of school, can't really express things, can't fill out applications. They are the
ones that get involved in really selling the drugs. Dealing drugs, you don't have to go through filling out
no legal paperwork, and then again, it's plenty of money being made. So that's what I think.
Everybody I know that I went to school with in junior high and high school is either dead or in jail or
on the corner drunk. That includes half of my family and probably half of yours.
The way I made things better was from help through centers like Rainbow Centers, East Oakland
Youth Development Center where I attended, and through entrepreneurs like l<athleen Sullivan. She's
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part of the---where I found her through the East Oakland Youth Development Center. They got me to
get, you know, where I can fill out applications to get better jobs, and they really prepared me to be able
to go out on interviews and stuff like that to sell myself. So that was a blessing.
For gang members, there is only one thing to do-- get hard, hard like me. Like I tell the police when
they are late getting to the scene, after dealers that used to be good friends of mine, bellying over turf
with my family or brothers, shooting up my mother's house causing me at times to take action by putting
my life on the line, the police can't help and are scared to. This problem is going to take brothers like me
that are not scared to die for what's right, that are not scared to die for what is right. There are many of
the youngsters that have seen the good examples that I'm trying to study, still, to this day. Most of them,
like my brothers, want to do what's right, the right thing, but going to some of the programs takes too
long to get the youth going. We need more programs for the ones that really want to better themselves
and the ones that don't have anywhere to go and really wants to better themselves.
More centers, better jobs, and a better jail system are needed. Anyone that sell drugs should at
least get five years and not early kick-outs. That's it. (Laughter.)
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Could I ask you a question?
MR. DELK: Yes.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: When did you start your business enterprise?
MR. DELK: I really just got started in my own business I say about no longer than eight months ago.
I've been working hard just trying to find myself, period, and working under the table doing construction
work, going back to school at East Oakland Youth Development Center. They got me back to college. I
was a junior high dropout. Without that knowledge of filling out an application and other basic skills, they
got me back off into where they got me back to learning the importance of education and going back to
college. I went to Learning Child Institute. Two years of construction really paid off. I picked that up
real quick and everywhere I went through was just amazement of the stuff that I learned in two years of
time. It was really busy and if they needed a plumber or whatever, dry wall layer, and they hired me just
to, you know, make a little money on the side. Well, since I was making this money, I figured I might as
well put this money to the side. On the weekend, I'm doing family yards. I might as well just invest in this
maintenance work. So it got to where I was really upset with the way the whole system was ran, period.
How they, you know, work for these people, making them rich and you get nothing out of it. They got me
jobs working many odd jobs. Like I said, I had the opportunity to say to myself, do I want to be working
with you all my life or do I want to go back to school to better myself, to make things better for rne? So I
decided to quit, which was a very wise decision, because, like I say, there ain't no telling when
something's going to---when I'm really going to get hurt, so I just say, hey, let me go back and get into
school. I've got to go get my GED through Kathleen Sullivan. That's being worked on right now, in the
whole works.
So, like I say, I've only been in business for a short time although I've been in business for years like I
say for---I mean professionally. I just got into it about eight months going through the program. And that
was a blessing, but like I say, I've just been doing it for years under the table on the weekends for family
and friends. I saw them bringing in a good income. I said well, since I don't want to be working with these
- 22-

guys, they're ripping me off, you know, knocking me for what I know and stuff like that, and not giving me
the credit for what I do know for helping them with stuff that they didn't know, so I just decided it's time
for my own thing.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, very good. Good luck to you. Thank you for coming today.
MS. SULLIVAN: David Hartfield, who has a catering service.
MR. DAVID HARTFIELD, JR.: Hello.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: How are you today?
MR. HARTFIELD: All right. My name is David Hartfield, Jr. I'm here to suggest the building of
foundations among our youth in Oakland. Through our churches we can take our youth off the street and
work on their foundations.

There are many programs across the United States such as the Church

Connection Project, the Black Youth Project, and Christfund. Even in the Clakland community we have
programs such as Project Interface and Project Spirit. I have brought you information emphasizing
Project Spirit and other foundation builders of our young.
If you really want to do something about something, start at the foundation and work your way up.
Looking at Project Spirit, our children need more programs to show how and where to use their strength.
Our children need more programs to show how to use their perseverance. Our children need more
programs teaching them to capture and utilize their imagination. Our children need more programs
uncovering responsibility. Our children need more programs teaching them to master integrity. Our
children need more programs that expose and highlight talents. Our children of our community need
more foundation builders. Thank you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: You're saying you're in the catering business?
MR. HARTFIELD: Yes, I am.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: How old were you when you started? Where's our samples?
MR. HARTFIELD: I'm 22 years old now. I've been cooking for 15 years, 7 years professionally.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: You didn't hear the last part I said, did you? I wanted to know where
the

were if you're a caterer. (Laughter.)
MR. HARTFIELD:

You can contact me through the CJakland Chamber of Commerce

(Laughter.)
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I'm hungry now.
MS. SULLIVAN: I know that you are pressed for time, and I'm wondering---! do have one other
person. She •.•
SENATOR TORRES: A woman?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: By all means.
MS. SULLIVAN: Okay. Tamu Hamed.
SENATOR TORRES: You're the bookkeeper.
MS. T AMU K. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: (Inaudible.)
SENATOR TORRES: So are we.
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: My name is Tamu Hamed. I am 19 years of age. I own a bookkeeping
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business. I've been---I started the bookkeeping business by helping do people's taxes and what have you.
And now I'm in business. It's been all right so far. They say it's hard, but it's been all right.
SENATOR TORRES: Mr. Chair.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Torres has a question.
SENATOR TORRES: How many years have you been in business now?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Two.
SENATOR TORRES:

Two years.

And you started out through this program that Ms. Sullivan

piloted?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Yes. Uh-hmmm. At first, I just played around with the idea. But
once I got into the program, you know, I really .•••
SENATOR TORRES: How did you hear about the program?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: My father. He knew her.
SENATOR TORRES: Oh, your father knew Ms. Sullivan?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Yes, so I just kind of called and went down there and filled out the
papers ••.•
SENATOR TORRES: So how many clients per year do you have now?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Four.
SENATOR TORRES: Four clients.
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Right now.
SENATOR TORRES: Right now.
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: That's pretty good for the ••••
SENATOR TORRES: So you're doing taxes and what else?
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Basically, and some of other businesses' books.
SENATOR TORRES: Well, let me tell you something. One of our dearest friends in the Senate
started out that way, and she's a woman. In fact, the first woman elected Senate --Rose Ann Vuich. And
she always advises us on how badly we keep the state's books. (Laughter.) And so as a bookkeeper, she's
always telling us where we're going wrong. I think you're on the right track.
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: Thank you.
SENATOR TORRES: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
MS. HAMED-WESTBROOKS: I believe that if you have a strong family, trust in your family, can go
to your family, have respect in yourself and your family, you will be a stronger person. If a family is
united, loyal to one another, have trust in one another, respect one another, it will be strong. However, if
there is an imbalance present, and it isn't resolved quickly, the imbalance can become a growth and
eventually destroy them. This is the root of a majority of problems.
In my opinion, it's the overall goal of society to destroy families. When you destroy families, people
look out to other alternatives than to their family, including taking and distributing drugs, prostitution,
gangs, etc. In children, there is often misbehavior and rebellion, and often others withdraw altogether.
Some say if there's more jobs, there will be less drug pushing. I doubt this very seriously. If a person
is from an imbalanced family, is uneducated, and has no motivation, they will not seek other alternatives,
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but will continue to be drawn to material wealth that they thrive on from pushing drugs. Consequently, a
majority of children from unbalanced homes will see the drug pusher, pimps, whomever, "doing their
thing" and driving around in their fancy cars and what have you. They'll look up to this negative character
and want to be that. This child doesn't know the overall effects of a drug pusher. He just knows what he
sees, and most of the time he likes it. Then the children will begin to think they don't need to be educated
to make money, nor go seeking jobs once they become of age. They'll go to the pusher and ask if they can
sell drugs for him, and more likely than not, he'll say yes, and here's another puppet for society to
manipulate.
Without a strong family, children don't have a chance in a negative society. If a child has an
unbalanced family, without two good parents as role models, I doubt very seriously that this child will
have a good background and will most likely cause problems in school and society in general. He will not
be directed, he will not have reasonable goals to look out for, and he won't become a productive part of
society. Rather he will be a negative part. For the people caught up in this ferris-wheel of society, I see
only self-help.
In closing, I'd like to read the words to a song my family group sings. The song is called "Unhooked
Generation." In the opening, it says:
You know, a majority of the young people of today are pushing towards the greater things in life,
and there is always someone or something trying to pull them down. But we, the new generation,
will not be pulled down.

Do you want to know why?

Because we're the u-h-g, the unhooked

generation. We don't pop, we don't puff, we don't snort, and we don't drink, and it sure do make us
happy.
The song goes on to sing about the effects of drugs on a young person's mental and physical person.
In conclusion, if the parents and society won't come to the aid of young adults, then who will? And
as young adults, if you see a good example, a role model, for you to follow, then you should exploit the
resource available to you, and fight for all your might.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

All right. Very good. Well, thank you. We appreciate your

coming today.
SENATOR TORRES: Well done.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good. We had Dick Eigelhart -- am I saying that
right, Dick? He's with the District Attorney's office here to make a few comments for us.
MR. DICK EIGELHART: My name is Dick Eigelhart, chief assistant D.A. in Alameda County. And
I wns asked to---I was here watching and I was thinking how sad it would be if you didn't have this meeting
here today. There's a lot of good ideas, a lot of good testimony here. And so I'm glad that you chose
Oakland to have your hearing in as part of fact-finding.
I don't have a whole lot to tell you that you haven't heard already. I think that there are some things
that the state can do. There's a whole lot of things that need to be done -- a lot coming from the federal
government and a lot that needs to be done locally. But there are some things that are changing. For
example, the state has had a program through the Office of Criminal Justice Planning regarding gang
violence that was really not structured to work in all of the state, but maybe just in a couple of the
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perhaps Los Angeles. But that's changed, and

changing some of their definitions and

you've increased the money there, and I think that the possibility for gang violence grants are increasing.
At some point, somebody needs to take a look at this not nice subject at all; but at some point,
somebody needs to take a look at a welfare system that forces fathers not to be at home. You know, I
came across this ugly fact when an informant on a drug gang who would be dead today if they knew where
he lived, and we snuck him into another city in California, and he had his wife and children with him.
They were knocked off of welfare because he was living with his wife. And I became aware of this as a
general policy. And there are a bunch of things that government is doing that need to be corrected, and I
welcome your attention to those.
I think that if you're looking at the issue of why gangs work, you have to be able to say that there are
some beneficial aspects to gang participation that we are going to have to think of ways to replace. With
cultural gangs, you have a level of identification, a level of peer group support, a level of protection, a
feeling of self-esteem by being a part of that gang. And if there is no other answer, you and I would be in
gangs, too, if we were in that position. So we have to make sure that there are other support systems out
there that help to at least provide the chances for those kinds of impulses to be supplied by other legal
means and then there'll be less chance for gangs to work well. I think you'll see, if you haven't already,
that we have both cultural gang activity in which drugs are a part of it, but are not the key part, and we
have what are called instrumental gangs which are organized just for drug activity, and we have a number
of those here in Northern California. The only purpose of that gang's existence is for the distribution and
sales of drugs. So it's different than the Bloods and the Crips and other spinoffs of that variety.
A growing problem we have here, and will be a growing problem, is Asian gangs from people who
have recently come to America and their children, who are going through their teenage years, who don't
have a sense of protection, of worth, coming from the systems that are available. They are attacked to
some degree from the outside and they're joining together in gangs that are becoming more and more
dangerous and more and more vicious. So that's a new phenomenon that we see here where we have a high
number of Asian immigrants and we're seeing the results of that-- parents who knew how to control their
kids in the country where they lived, but those systems don't work here. And we need to be able to have
ways to help train those parents to work with their kids here in America. There's a growing rift there.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Let me ask you a question about the grand jury and the municipal
court preliminary hearing. I've looked at exploring legislation that would try to deal with that because it
looks like the grand jury indictments are pretty much gone in most places because you've got to go back
to the municipal court anyway, so why not just go there. Except in a few areas like child molestation,
some of those, what do you think about the possibility of trying to reinstitute that in the area of ..•?
MR. EIGELHART: We've tried every year. Ever since the Hawkins decision occurred, we have
tried every year in Sacramento in one form or another to restore the orginal version, the constitutional
version: that the grand jury concept is deeply imbedded in the Californin r:onstitution, nnd sl ill is. And
we have tried yearly to restore that to the pre-1-Jawkins status. I have to believe that there's not a very
good chance politically for that to work, because that's been turned down every year.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Has it been only limited to drugs or has it been the whole area?
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MR. EIGELHART: You know, it's been everything. There have been attempts to restore the grand
jury indictment status, the pre-Hawkins overall. There have been instances where it has been reduced to
sexual assault crimes, has been reduced to drug crimes, has been reduced to murder. I think it's fair to
say that the California Legislature isn't going to do th8t. I can read the results. And I think il's fair to say

that at least the clear message we're getting, I don't think there's a single bill that has been, that law
enforcement has said, "Okay, well, do we go again with this?" "Yeah, we've got to go again with it." Ahd

it gets turned down. There's not a single bill that has been repeatedly run up against a stone wall as much
as that bill. And I know there's been attempts. I know that Senator Torres has attempted to deal with
that in other fashions.
What happened, and the Legislature really didn't look at this for a while, but what happens when the
Hawkins bill went into effect is it took a very efficient form of presenting evidence, deciding if there's
enough evidence to go forward and moving from there into a---you now have enough evidence to be able
to get on the felony trial status.

It took that system, which was not being used in many cases in

California-- it was being used very judiciously, I think; and I think if you look at the use of it before
Hawkins, it was about 6 percent of the total cases in California -- and it took that system

~md

wiped it

out. I'll give you an example: We had a case, the bingo murder case here in which a couple of kids came
into a bingo hall with automatic weapons, shot up the bingo hall, and robbed a number of people. And that
was a two-day indictment before a grand jury. The Hawkins case came down before that case was
arraigned in superior court. And so we had to go back, and we had a three-month preliminary hearing in
that case. That was just to see if there was enough evidence to then go up and get arraigned in superior
court and start to get on the calendar to see if we could go to trial. Now, that's ridiculous.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yeah.
MR. EIGELHART: The whole idea of the preliminary hearing started in California because the
sheriff, with the circuit judge not coming around for 90 days, would go to arrest somebody he wanted to
harrass and put him in jail, and then when the circuit judge came around on the 89th day, he'd release him.
That wasn't fair. And so they said, fine, let's have some kind of a probable cause showing you've got
enough evidence before some kind of magistrate. By then it was a justice court judge, who was the one
who said you've got enough there to hold this guy. Okay, fine. So that was done. Those cases where there
wasn't enough evidence, that the person wasn't salted away in jail until the circuit judge came around.
That has gone from that system to a system we have now that is incredibly bulky. I mean, we start out
and charge someone in municipal court, and go through all the arraignment and all the moves be fore you
finally get to the preliminary hearing, and then have a 15-day delay to go back to superior court to start
over again and arraign them again. Shock and surprise, they plead "not guilty" again and go through all of
that dance again before we finally can get to the main event of deciding whether or not they're guilty.
And you know, as I know you know because you have had legislation to attempt to clean this area up, we
have a 19th century criminal justice system that we're working with right now. Now I know that you and
the public basically do not trust a law enforcement system that works too efficiently, and you are afraid
of that and the public is afraid of that, and there is some reason to be afraid of that. Because, if you give
us the tools that work too efficiently, then the risk is there that people who are not guilty will also be
swept
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up in that. That's an understandable fear, and there's nothing wrong with having that kind of caution in
anything that you do. There's nothing wrong with that. But that doesn't mean that there aren't changes
that could be made. And what we have now is essentially an antiquated criminal justice system.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, keep working on it.

Senator Torres.

SENATOR TORRES: I just wanted to thank Dick Eigelhart publicly for 14 years of teaching me
about the criminal justice system. When I first came to the Assembly as vice chairman of Criminal
Justice Committee, certainly because of him and mainly of him, I changed many of my attitudes about
law enforcement and the criminal justice system. So, thanks.
MR. EIGELHART: Well, I appreciate your still slugging away. Keep at it. (Laughter.)
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right.
SENATOR TORRES: We will.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Walter Aldridge.
MR. WALTER ALDRIDGE: Good morning, Committee. First of all, let me correct the spelling of
my name, because I'm substituting for Charlotte Martinez, which is probably why my name is misspelled.
A-1-d-r-i-d-g-e.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Aldridge, okay. Well, we got the first name right.
MR. ALDRIDGE: Let me begin by stating that it is my opinion that the escalation of gang violence,
with which this committee is concerned, is essentially related to the increase in drug activities. It is also
my opinion that it's not a question of additional laws that we have to be concerned about in curbing the
criminal activity, but how we allocate our resources. And I say this because of the following:
Every time you effect a law there will be a response by the criminals. I'll give you an example. The
last two shooting cases that I prosecuted, each time the shooters went out and procurred an old, beat-up
vehicle. Usually they borrow the vehicles. They do not go out purposefully to engage in shoot-outs in
their BMWs. So you can have all of the forfeiture statutes you want, you still won't get to the heart of the
matter.
To get to the heart of the matter, I think we have to first begin by looking at how the gangs were
formulated. San Francisco is unique. As I've been sitting here listening, I've heard a lot of conversation
here about the L.A. experience. But L.A. is just one part of the state. You must realize that gangs begin
with one person. When you look at the drug traffic, the first gang member is one individual. He's an
individual who is selling dope, and he begins to form federations as a result of his drug activities. I'll give
you ane xample. Prior to 1985, there were no black gangs in San Francisco other than the two main
families who supplied narcotics. Prior to 1985, one person would go out and sell crack, sell cocaine. You
could get caught because he was caught with the marked police money in a sting operation. He was also
caught with the narcotics. So this person had to do something to prevent himself from being detected. So
he got a confederate. The confederate would then receive the marked money, thus making police
detection a little more difficult. So now we have two people. The way that gang evolved, then, you had
three or more persons. The way this operation would work-- one person would solicit the sale, the second
permm would handle thA dope, stashed away somewhere in some lluildinq, and n third person would be

passed the money. Therefore, when the police would try to apprehend this individual, he would have
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neither the money or the narcotics. Now these were lose confederations. And to me, that was the
beginning of the way the gangs in a particular turf area established themselves. And that was about
bly two yenrs ago in San Francisco.
Now, the trouble occurred when we had a supply and demand problem about two years ago. Then we
had various other loose federations in other portions of the city encroach upon other loose
confederations. That's when we began to have the concept of turf, where the loose confederations began
to form alliances to combat one another. Now these loose confederations were not a response to law
enforcement. They were a response to other criminals. The gangs really don't care that law enforcement
knows who they are. I know who they are. They see me; they know me. What they're concerned about is
that other gangs know who they are and that other gangs will stay away.
To me, the essential question we should be asking ourselves, of the people who have to live in the
drug-infested areas, how do we give them the peace and tranquility that the Constitution said that they
deserved. Most people who live in these areas are not committing crimes, they're not selling dope, but
they are prisoners.
It is my opinion when I first begin my talk, we should allocate resources to have polire officers on
every street in those particular areas. They should be there 24 hours a day. The second thing we should
do, we should have a public debate about the way we view communal housing, because communal housing
is a way and the place where the drug pushers flourish. The third thing that needs to be done -- this is a
great deal more difficult-- there should be a public debate within the black middle class. As I sat in the
back here, I was listening to these various young people who were 20-22 years old talk about their plights.
They don't realize that until 20 years ago, the black middle class was always in a black neighborhood, that
although you were unemployed, there was a teacher or a doctor who lived next door to you, they were
black and they were there because the white society would not let them move out of the neighborhood.
So these kids, now second and third generation welfare, have nothing to look at but other persons on
second and third generation welfare and criminals, because the black middle class is abandoning them.
They are totally unaware of this. Now that's another issue that has to be dealt with --the issue of role
models. And I don't know how we're going to resolve it. I don't think simply throwing money at everything
will solve the problem, but I do think at the very least, money will have to be focused immediately on the
issue of giving peace and tranquility to those that live in the neighborhoods. That means more police
protection. I think we need to discuss how we're going to deal with communal housing.
SENATOR BERGESON: Thank you. Any questions? Thank you very much for your testimony. We
appreciate it.
MR. ALDRIDGE: Thank you.
SENATOR BERGESON: Mr. Jack Jacqua, director of the Omega Boys' Club.
MS. YOLANDA WILLIAMS: Of course, I'm not Jack Jacqua. (Chuckles.) I'm just going to take a
few minutes prior to the introduction of Jack Jacqua.
My name is Yolanda Williams and I'm a resident of San Francisco and I'm here representing the Bay
View-Hunters Point Crime Abatement Committee and also the Omega Boys' Club. It's an honor and a
privilege to be invited to address this distinguished body of officials ;md I arn confident that when we
- 29-

adjourn this meeting there will be some possible solutions.
I'm going to recap some experience I've encountered within my community in San Francisco. I'm
speaking basically of the Bay View-Hunter's Point community. Back in 1984, I became a homeowner of a
piece of property in the area. At the time, I thought that this would be a good investment; however, I did
not realize that this investment was actually going to change and alter my lifestyle drastically.
As a resident, I spent many sleepless nights. I was continually frustrated and literally became a
prisoner of my environment and also a victim of circumstances which were beyond my control. This
particular community has been infested with drug traffickers and also youth that are involved in gang
violence. I realized that the answer went beyond law enforcement and it was going to take some serious
commitments. I was prepared, at this point, along with other neighbors in this community, for the worst;
and we were willing to die, if necessary.
So, in 1986 we held a meeting in a community center and the attendance was just great, and
everyone had agreed that we were fed up, and it was time for us to take a move against the perpetrators
of drugs and genocide.

We realized that our black youth, especially the males, have become an

endangered species. This meeting resulted in the formulation of San Francisco's first and foremost
historic march against drugs and gang violence. Our theme was "Crime is not part of our black heritage."
In the march we had over 3,000 participants and we basically marched throughout this community in
areas where we had never dared to walk during the day let alone at night. The attendees of the march
were a cross-section from public housing facility residents to professional workers, law enforcement
officers, students, politicians, and ministers. It was a proud day, but once again, we had to realize that a
revolution had just begun and it was time for us to have some strategies in order to continue to take this
stand.

I have to stress to you that we were committed, that we were going to have a drug-free

community, and we were determined that drugs were not going to be part of our environment. The
solutions and answers have to come from the community.

The law enforcement and you are only

additional resources for us. It's going to take strong community leaders in order for us to change this
problem. Fortunately, San Francisco has been blessed in both areas, because we do have a positive law
enforcement and they have been a great asset to us. The youth have received mixed messages, though,
with regards to values, success, and leadership. Through my interactions and battling for the turf,
basically the corner of my house, I have experienced some property damage as well as threats on my life.
But again, I was committed to this change, and I wasn't going to let this 10 percent of young people who
were doing or involved in crime to take over what was my domain.
Throughout my involvement with the communities, I was fortunate to meet a very positive existing
organization and that was the Continental Omega Boys' Club. Jack Jacqua is here; he is the director of
the Boys' Club, and I would like to introduce him. He can tell you a little bit about the Continental Omega
Roys' Cluh. I Hlso have a newspaper here, it's an old edition, about our march against

rlrug~;;

and I'm hopin<J

that if at any point possible we can come up with some concrete conclusions to have another march on a
specific date, let's make it clear across California.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right. How are you today?
MR. JACK JACQUA: Yes, good morning. I'm only going to take a minute because I want you to
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hear the youth. We're all angry and I hope that nobody here takes it personally, because nothing is
directed to you personally, but we are angry about a lot of things, and maybe in the next ten minutes, you
can hear some of our young people tell you about some of the concerns.
I'm upset, quite frankly, because this room isn't filled with youth. I'm convinced in working with
young people out on the turf, in the gangs and public housing that 80 percent of the young people who are
out selling drugs do not want to be there. We need prevention. We need family intervention. The answer
to solving the problem is not more police. That is ludicrous. I think you all understand that in Los Angeles
and in San Francisco that's not the answer. You have a population, especially of black youth, that are
disenfranchised, disenchanted, discouraged, and filled with rage. And again, in order to solve, if indeed,
and I challenge the Legislature and I challenge you people who are in positions of power, that if you
indeed really want to solve the problem and maybe embarrass and alienate a few of your constituents-the people that put you in office -- you need to listen to youth and you need to listen specifically to the
rage in young black youth. When you go around the state, which is admirable and I appreciate that, you
need to fill the rooms with young black men and hear what they have to say, and not take it personal. Too
many times we take these things personal.

They're not personal, but there's diseouragement,

desperation, and rage out there every day.
Now, very quickly -- the Omega Boys' Club is an extended family, which includes girls.

We

currently have 75 members. They are all teenage public housing youth in San Francisco, and we have a
few from Oakland actually, in the club. What we do -- we have three major points: No. 1, we are
academically oriented. Every young man and young woman in the club maintains a C average and their
main goal is to go to college. This year we have eleven seniors, ten of them are in college. Of those ten,
nine are out of the state of California. So that's what we're doing. We are not getting paid a nickel by
anybody. We are doing this mainly through commitment; myself, the three other directors hold other
jobs. I work with the San Francisco Unified School District, which is an operation I have worked for for 20
years. It's totally failing our youth, totally failing our youth, and especially black youth. I'm sure that's
the case in every major school district throughout America. I don't think we're any different.
So, No. 1, we are academically oriented. We are sending young people to college. The record is
there: 10 out of 11. Secondly, we are drug-free. As you see by the shirts a few young men are wearing-we took them out of school today -- not only are they proud of wearing shirts "I do not do drugs" and
obviously that means not taking drugs as well as not selling drugs, but when we go out, we get respect in
the community. We get respect in public housing. These young men can tell you. They walk around with
"I don't do druqs" on their shirt and they get respect from the turf, from the gangs, from the people who
are doing

druu~

bec;:wse they know these guys are for real. So we have a strong anti-drug statement.

Finally, we're going into the locked up facilities.

We're going into youth guidance center, Log

the lock-up teenage facilities in San Francisco. We're using our peer counselors to talk to the
young men who are incarcerated. We have done some amazing things in the six months we've been doing
it. Again, I have to say, one of the solutions is people have to start taking control, seizing control, of
their own environment. We are all doing this for nothing. However, we can increase our operations; we
could increase everything we do if we had some money. There's some of it recognized that there are
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positive things going on.
And finally, Mr. Williams, and I'll call his name at Channel 5, left --I don't know whose cameras
these are-- but Channel 5left when we came in. And I said, "You know, we have some young people who
will say a few things." But they don't care because we can watch Fox, their thing on Saturday night, their
little hysterical crack, public housing San Francisco thing. Everyone sees especially the image of black
teenagers on television in a negative way. Why didn't the media stay and hear some young people?
Because even though I've talked longer than I wanted to, and I appreciate it because I can see there's a lot
of receptiveness here, although I wish Mr. Harris was here to hear us, you know, that it's important, you
know, it's important. And I challenge and I hope Mr. Harris does hear some of the young people because
again if you're having a forum to hear us, then you we all need to be here to hear us.
I'm going to turn this over to Macio Dickerson.

Quickly, we have four young people:

Macio

Dickerson, Ronald Wilson, Germaine King, and Marcus Washington.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Let me just ask you one question. These youth that you're dealing
with, do they have families or are they one-parent families?
MR. JACQUA: Most are single-parent families.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: That young girl talked about family.
MR. JACQUA: Most are single-parent families. The problem is in too many occasions, there are no
longer single-parent families, because the latest thing over the last two years, as most of you know,
there's no one in the family, because the mother who used to be there, in more cases than not, in too many
cases, she's cracked out. The father isn't there; the father wasn't there from the beginning. So now,
we're dealing with a lot of young people in the inner-city that have no one at home. So we need extended
families. We also need peer counseling, which we're doing, where our young people will go out because
youth will listen to their own peers.
Okay? I'm going to bring Macio or Marcus. Sorry •••• Thank you. Thank you very much.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, how are you today?
MR. MARCUS WASHINGTON: I'm all right. Yourself?
CH/\IRMAN McCORQUODALE: Good.
MR. WASHINGTON: My name is Marcus Washington. I'm with Omega Boys' Club. I want to talk
about an issue that we all know about-- gang violence.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Please talk a little louder. Just a little louder, please.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I'm not sure that picks up. You just have to talk loud.
MR. WASHINGTON: I'm Marcus Washington with Omega Boys' Club. I wanted to talk to you about
an issue thul we all know about, gang violence, and some solutions that I have.
I feel that we need more peer counseling because as you know, we go to youth lock-up, youth
guidance center, Log Cabin Ranch for Boys; and we, you know, we talk to a lot of guys and most guys up
there, well, they tell me that they wish there was more jobs. And that is true, because some guys feel
that all they know how to do is to sell drugs; it's hard, you know, going out there, doing a good job. I feel
that we need peer counseling to help them to know what a positive role model means. Because as you see,
there's a lot of kids out there selling drugs, starting at the age of fl, 9, 10, 11; nml wP nPPrl thnnr prnqrnrns
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that, you know, keep them in line, to let them know what a positive role model is, to let them know what a
negative role model is.
We need jobs for youth. We need monies for that. And you know, we need funds for these things,
too. It takes money. We need money for this. That's a big thing that I think about-- jobs for youth -because a lot of guys out there wish they had jobs instead of selling drugs because, you know, when we go
to our youth guidance center at Log Cabin Ranch, they tell us, well, we wish there were more jobs out
there, because I'm getting sick of selling dope, and some of them are.
I see on the news where they say, well, like one part of the city is doing this and one part of the city
is doing that, but you know, it's like some people that, you know, like the news, you know, some people say
things, but they don't know how it really is. From personal experience, I've been out there. And some
people just blow it way out of proportion from what it really is. From personal experience, I have been
out there and I know what it really is like. From personal experience, I know that there was a time when I
felt bad and nobody cared, when I felt that I wasn't being loved; and that's why I think we need these peer
counselors, these programs that, you know, just---you know, let kids know that they are somebody and
that they can be somebody. Because a lot of kids out there nowadays, some of rny fric,nds, feel that they
are nobody and feel that the only way they can survive is by selling drugs. We need people out there as
role models, grownups that's going to talk to these kids and let them know that there are jobs out there
that they can get, and yes, I will help, and yes, you are somebody. Without that help, we know they feel
that they're lost, that they're nowhere, so they go out there and do negative things. We need programs
that help kids come out with their problems because some kids let their problems build up and then
explode in a negative way. We need these programs for that.
I think we need better communication with police. Because I have seen from personal experience
what it's like to be innocent and getting punished. It's like, you know, just because people like me have
been in a place where drugs were being sold like in public housing, the police comes and they say, "Well,
what are you doing here?" and you say you live here and they don't go for that. So sometimes they plant
drugs on you, you know. They're supposed to be helping. I know of some police, you know-- police can
only do so much. It's just like, you know, if you've got crooked cops out there, that's not helping either.
Yeah, we need better communication with police.
And we need programs like we have, like the Omega Boys' Club, to let kids know that they can, you
know, be something in life instead of, you know, going out there doing bad things. I think that should be
brought out. Because some kids out there, you know, they don't really know what they want to do with
their life. Some are just lost like in space. So I think we just need more programs for that, just to let
them know that they are somebody and they can be somebody in life. Without funds, helping them get
jobs for youth, helping them better themselves, it's like, you know, you're just standing still.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

Several people have commented today about the need for the

solutions to carne from the community. I know in my neighborhood, if there's a speeding problem or if
there's a stoplight needed at the corner or something, the neighborhood gets together and they try to get
that problem taken care of, I'm likely to go to the meeting. If that stoplight needs to be taken care of ten
blocks away and they're having a meeting, I'm less likely to go. How do you internalize these needs within
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your community. How can you---what is it that we could do to say there ought to be more Omega Boys'
Clubs? That's kind of hard for us to deal

but how do we do that? What can we do that would help in

doing that?
MR. WASHINGTON:

You know, like when we go to these lock-up, there's different guys from

different parts of town like, you know, Hunters Point, Western Addition. It's not like we say, well, "Hey,
you know, I'm going to do a variety of things; this is how it's going to be, and I want to be in Omega Boys'
Club.11 First, we try to get everyone from a different part of town, and then they could tell other guys. I
mean, you say, weli, hey, this is something good. And when they got out, they go and tell and it's just like
it's spreading everywhere. Because at first, you know, I didn't know about the club until a guy that lives
by me told me about the club. It's like, you know, we get people from different parts of town. It's like
they're spreading the word: Omega Boys' Club, Omega Boys' Club. This is a good thing we do. From what
I see, it's not too many clubs that are doing what we're doing. Because we're committed, you know, we're

not getting a nickel for it. It's all about commitment. That's where we have problems. We've got four
things that, you know, we go by in the club: scholarship, perseverance, brotherhood commitment. You
know, that's what we're really about.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay. All right. You're up.
MR. RONALD WILSON: How you doin'? How're you all doin'? My name is Ron Wilson. I'm with
Omega Boys' Club.
What I mainly want to say is like people are not listening to kids, you know, people have got to start
listening to kids because what they've got to say is very important sometimes, a lot of times. I show them
in lock-up ••• we know we're just like that. We're no different. We just---we got feelings. They cry, we
cry. It's simple, you know, we can do what they do, but we see a better side of life. We see that there's
something-- there's a good side and there's a bad side. We see that sometimes---no, not sometimes, but
all the time, it's just a consequence. We know there's a consequence. They know there's a consequence.
But we've just got to like---! mean, more adults are starting to listen to kids. What they've got to say is
very, very important.
We need fun for kids. You know, like when we recruit kids, instead of their going back to drugs, let
them have some fun. Life ain't all serious. You know, we've got to have fun just like any other kids have
fun. We go to school. We've got to have a 2.5 or better. You know, instead of working all time, we've got
to have fun. We see that there's fun to life, but there's also strictly business.
As most of you know, this gang violence and stuff starts at home. They see that the family,
brothers and sisters don't have nothing, they don't want to be part of that. They want to have something.
So they do drugs. They ain't having nothing, but do they see that? That's a part of it. They see that they
can sell drugs, they get a little bad with it. But you know that's not true. We know that that's not true.
I'd like to see all these programs come together -- form "as one" to try to fight this. This could
become a big organization where all kids can go talk to kids, and get this together to fight this big old
situation.
CHAII~MAN

McCORQUODALE: Okay, go ahead. Senator Bergeson.

SENATOR BERGESON:

I'd like to compliment both of you young men.
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I think it's really

outstanding you come and speak to a group of legislators and certainly the general public. But I also
would like to know what involvement you have within your high schools as far as taking a leadership role
in

the same kind of recruitment you're talking about, what you are explaining to us. Are you able to

talk to your high school groups or form a student council to work within the public school system?
MR. WILSON: Yeah, like counseling other students from doing some drugs. A lot of kids come.
Spacing out now. They take kids from jails and put them him into certain schools. You know, just like I
said, we're just ordinary kids, you know, but we see a better side of life. That's life. We talk to our
brothers. We talk to them, you know. We show them that this is still better. Don't get back into it. But
tell them right off the top that we love you, we cry for you, we're going to help you out just as much as we
can. Show them that, you know, just take them with you, show them the club, bring them to the club. He
might not like it at first, but you know, you've got to get to know people, to get into activities, and know
you're loved. They love you; you get something out of it.
SENATOR BERGESON: Do you find that most of the young men and women that are active in our
club stay in high school, that they don't drop out, or they pay attention to their studies?
MR. WILSON: Yes, sure, definitely.
MR. GERMAIN KING: Okay, I'd like to comment on that. My name is Germain King, and I'm one of
the junior directors for the Boys' Club. From personal experience, when I was-- I'm a senior now and in
the twelfth grade of high school -- and during the ninth grade through the eleventh grade, say my first
year in high school, I got all F's on my report card. The tenth grade, I started doing a little better. The
eleventh grade, I did a little better than average, getting about D's and C's. Now, since I've been in the
club, all I'm getting is A's and B's in all my classes. For everyone in the club, one of the rules is that we
have to maintain at least a 2.0 to stay in the club. So that's a C average right there. But, we all strive and
help each other out. If we have a problem at school, like if I have a problem, I'll come to my brother
Macio and say, "I need some help with this; can you help me?" He'll talk to me, he'll help me with my work
and he'll say words to me, different phrases, to motivate me, to make me do my work and to make me
strive to get A's and B's because the ultimate goal for us and the Boys' Club is to go to the college, so we
can make something of ourselves. That's the ultimate goal.
One problem that we do have is money, and, hopefully, we can get certain grants that will help us
out. Because as Jack Jacqua just said, we have 11 kids that are---I mean, 10 out of 11 kids that are in
college right now. This year we have 21 that need to go to college, and we don't have enough money for
aU of them.
Another basic thing of the club is we go around to different facilities and talk to youth and try to
help them out. And one of the solutions I should say---I will say for the drug problem is that peer-on-peer
counseling, so far, seems to be the most effective thing, in our opinion.
SENATOR TORRES: Peer counseling.
MR. KING: Yes. It's like maybe one day hopefully we can work with the police and peer-on-peer
groups to talk, like we're doing now, not just in San Francisco and in California, but nationally, because it
works. It's 100 percent effective. How many people have we .•• ? Eight or nine so far.
Another solution would be to not just send out information saying, "Just Say No to Drugs" and drugs
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will do this to you, because the majority of the people don't know why people get hooked on drugs. We
know the causes. You can die, you can have a heart

you can

cancer and all these types of

diseases. Well, why do people get on drugs? Why do people sell drugs? From personal experience, for the
people that are out on the streets selling drugs, money is a big factor. But the main thing that really
makes you sell drugs is because you're bored. And around our neighborhoods, aU the gyms and recreation
centers were shut down, because I have a friend, a close friend of mine, matter of fact, he's selling drugs
now, where before he never sold drugs. He never thought about it. He said I never will, and he used to
always go to the weight room every day to lift weights. But they closed the weight room down. Now he's
up on the corner selling drugs. Just because that facility was shut down. And he's bored. There's nothing
else to do. So he said, "Well, since I'm bored and there's nothing to do, I could go do this. I won't be bored
and make money at the same time. I could get a job, I wouldn't be bored, but I can make more money
doing this. I could stand out here all day or I could stand out here for two hours, either way I'm going to
make more money than I do just for the little while I'm out there, than I do in a whole week at working at a
job. I know people that make $15,000 in two weeks. And I try to talk to them because they're my friends.
We all try. We all know people that sell drugs, because we used to be out there with them. Not everyone
in the club used to sell drugs, but some of us did. And we try to talk to our friends, because they're still
our friends, and we let them know that you are dear to our heart, and we don't want to see what's
happening to you. We want to help you because we care about you, just like when I say we love you.
SENATOR TORRES: Excuse me, Mr. Chairman.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yes, Senator Torres.
SENATOR TORRES: $15,000 in two weeks? And how old is this person?
MR. KING: Ah, let's see, he's about 18 or 19.
SENATOR TORRES: How old are you?
MR. KING: I'm 17.
SENATOR TORRES: So what grade are you? You're a senior in high school?
MR. KING: Yes.
SENATOR TORRES: You're a senior in high school as well as ... ?
MR. KING: Yes.
SENATOR TORRES: Well, as the Senator for Los Angeles, you young men are very bright, first of
all, by the caps you're wearing. I want to thank you. (Laughter.)
MR. DICKERSON: Those are the Oakland Traitors.
SENATOR TORRES: Oh, Oakland Traitors; Los Angeles Raiders now. Please go ahead.
MR. DICKERSON: I just want to say there's a lot of kids walking around, especially black youth,
with a lot of hostility, a lot of emptiness, a lot of non-self-esteem, and they feel neglected because they
qo to the schools and the teachers look at their parents and figure that, you know, oh, Cod, we've got one
of these corninf) to class. It's like they already know whflt their grade is. You know, it's like we got a
troublemaker and they don't even know you. I feel that every kid that's out there selling drugs has some
kind of a skill or some kind of thing that they love to do other than selling drugs, but it's like people don't
want to take time out to open up to them because they're too afraid of them, or it's like they're too good
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to really, you know, open up to them, you know. It's like what we need from you, from the people in
power, we need consistent help, you know. A lot of people will approach you and say that they want to
help you, but they're not consistent. You know, you don't hear from them again.
But we need funds to go to college, because I want to go to school. I want to continue high school
when I graduate this year and go to college, a nice college, you know, and get away from---get out of the
city and get an education. And, unfortunately, a lot of people don't believe that about me because I am
what I am, you know, and a lot of people feel that. It's just a negative look on us right now, on youth,
period. A lot of people have a negative look.
I mean, it's like every youth is involved with drugs, every youth is involved with selling, every youth
is involved with gangs. You know, that's another point I want to bring up too. It's not necessarily gangs.
It's individuals. You know, people walking around with low self-esteem and no one to talk to, no one to
open up to. And they can't go home and open up, too, because some of them don't have parents that can be
an example to them with good morals, values, and principles. That kid, he walks---that's why, that would
drive a kid to want to knock somebody in the head for no reason at all.
MR. WILSON: A perfect example of that is a friend of ours. When we were little kids, he had in his
room about 30 trophies and he had about 5 of them about this tall for playing sports --basketball, football,
and baseball. He made all A's in school up to the lOth grade. He started selling drugs because his mother
has no job, he has three little brothers, and he's the only source of income that that family has. He wants
to stop. Because I've talked to him. He said, "I really don't want to do this," because he's lost his right eye
because somebody tried to kill him. He'll never look out his right eye again. He said, I don't want to do
this, but if I stop or get a job, we won't have enough to pay the rent for the apartment, for the house. And
he can't stop. He sees no other way out.
MR. DICKERSON: Let me just tell you some positive things we're doing. We're going into lockedup facilities like youth guidance centers and Log Cabin Ranch and we're doing peer-on-peer counseling.
And I feel it's very effective.
SENATOR TORRES: You're going where? I didn't hear.
MR. DICKERSON: Youth guidance centers and Log Cabin Ranch. And I think it's very effective
because •••
SENATOR TORRES: (Inaudible.)
MR. DICKERSON: And a lot of people who are locked up in Log Cabin and youth guidance center
are considered threats to society, criminals, little animal killers, you know, you see them on TV. You
should see how they open up and just cry, and we embrace and hug, and we tell them we love them; we
want to see them make something of themselves. We understand; a lot of people don't understand what
you go through, seeing what you see, you know, at a young age. A young person 15 on to 18 shouldn't go
through some of the things that they go through. A lot of youth these days are being pushed into trying to
grow up too fast, you know, because there's a lot of things that we go through that forces us in that
position.
But it's like, okay, like we're going to Log Cabin, each one of us has a turn speaking and opening it
up. Then, after a while, we break up into groups and we socialize a lot. We talk and we talk. Then when
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they get out-- the ones that we feel are ready to be in a club, we like recruit them. And you should see--like take a young man named Joey Thomas, for instance. He was in and out of lock-up facili

you

know. A lot of people thought it was the end of him, you know. He couldn't go to school. He wasn't
capable of

such and such or whatever. He's not qualified for this; he didn't pass this test, so he's not

this or that. But he got his life together. He said no matter what, he won't sell drugs; he thinks about it
now. He's in Morris Brown University in Atlanta, Georgia, doing fine, you know, doing well, getting good
grades, I assume. And while he was there, I hear he had a job; you know, he was doing pretty good. He was
supporting his girl---his kid and everything and now he's doing good. He's somebody. He always was
somebody, but not enough people were telling him "you are somebody." And you know, we need funds. We
need to be nationally known. We have a message. Everybody's like on a mission --we have a message for
every youth out there who's selling, using, whatever, that you are somebody regardless of what anybody
says; you are somebody. You wouldn't be put on this earth if you're not somebody. No matter what race,
color, creed, whatever, you are somebody and you can work on anything that you want to do, just show
some brotherhood and some family-hood. It's like we need support; we need your support. We all need to
bring out the positive---because there's not enough positive---there's not enough positive in this world
being put out. There is more of a negative image, like I said before. We need to let other people know in
higher positions that there's something positive going on. Right now, we're not being funded by the
government. You know, Jack Jacqua, Preston Worthy, and Gil Marshall -- all the directors are doing it
voluntarily. They're not getting paid for it. You know, they take their time out of their jobs to come
down and spend all the time they can with us, you know. It gets tiresome. I know, sometimes, they could
fall asleep •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: (Laughs.)
MR. DICKERSON: We need your help. We need your support. I want to thank you for allowing us to
present this to you and I appreciate your showing us some concern, and I appreciate it.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, thank you for coming and taking part, telling us your story,
one that's positive. We do hear a lot of the negative. It always helps us a little bit if we know that
something is working out there. We ought to redouble our efforts for the same reasons. Good, thank you.
Let's see, we have some officers from the San Francisco Police Department, three of them, and
they're here.
MR. HERMAN JONES:

Good morning.

I am Officer Herman Jones, San Francisco Police

Department, our Community Services Division. With me is Officer Soulette and Officer Ibay, also from
the Community Services Division. We're here today, and unfortunately, we had such short notice that we
weren't able to prepare a text for you, but we would like the opportunity to share some of our experiences
and work in our respective communities as well as some suggested solutions today.
To start, some of the things that are going on with the police department in terms of our efforts in
dealing with the drug problem and gang problem in the City of San Francisco, our prime efforts and one of
Uw

things that we're really putting a lot of energy into is our "Here's looking at you -- Youth 2,000"

program. This program is geared towards educating youth in the primary grades in the schools at the age
level of third, fourth, and fifth grades, specifically about drugs-- caffeine, tobacco, alcohol, marijuana.
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At this point I want to defer to Officer Soulette who is one of the pioneers of the program and can better
speak to it.
MR. HARRY SOULETTE:

Thank you. Good morning. My name is Harry Soulette. I'd like to

address the "Here's looking at Youth 2000" curriculum that was adopted by the San Francisco Police
Department in the latter part of 1986.
Primarily we started with public schools. It was always an issue of the "at-risk" youth. I've
had a problem with that because I look at all of our youth as "at risk". Anywhere you go, you're

to

run into the problem of drugs. So we started the program. We went into the public schools primarily,
targeting third, fourth, and fifth grades, teaching students what drugs are. A lot of people go around
saying, "Drugs, drugs, drugs" and when the word "drugs" comes up, they can't define it. Drugs could be
anything that affects the way your mind and body function. This is a message that we've been putting
forth to these children in third, fourth, and fifth grade --letting them know what a drug is, what the drug
can do to your body, what the drug can do to your mind, and how the effects of drugs can affect not only
you but all the persons around you, all your loved ones.
I've had the experience of having a third grade student from a predominantly white schaol explain
to me in detail how crack cocaine was made. From a third grader to a pol;ce officer, I didn't even know
how to make crack. Fortunately, now I do. So I know what not to have around the house. They're all
items that you can have in the house. It's given me a chance to see that there is some good being done
through education. I believe that with education in the schools, and I don't think third grade is young
enough, I think kindergarten is ideal, we can start teaching our children. They are our future, after all.
We must start teaching them what the effects of drugs are and how it'll affect you. I've seen a lot of good
reactions from students, from the children, especially by being able to relate to a role model, to have a
police officer with them in the classroom to see that yes, we are human, we don't sleep in patrol cars, we
don't have a closet full of uniforms, so they can also learn that we are human beings.
These are a lot of the things that in the past led children to believe myths. This is the age where
they're most impressionable. They are in that stage of absorbing everything and anything that's put forth
to them, and they will remember this. I still have experiences where children that I spoke to two years
ago see me walking down the street in my civilian clothes and they recognize me, "Officer Soulette, how
are you? Do you remember 'no to drugs'?" To me that's an accomplishment. If I can get one of those
children to refuse drugs and to learn how to say no and to deal with peer pressure which is also covered in
the curriculum that we are teaching, it's a step forward. We need to see that happen more and more, not
only here in San Francisco. I know Los Angeles also has a DARE program, which goes to the schools and
does the same. Nationwide, prevention through education, I believe, is the method that will work; in San
Francisco it has worked thus far and I feel that it should be nationwide.
We also have other means, other ways of reaching the youth through community-based
organizations. And to get into that a little more, I'd like to have Officer Soulette---Officer Ibay address
that portion.
MR. REV IBAY:

And let me correct your pronunciation of my last name. It's E-by, not I-bay.

(Laughter.) I've been working with him for five years and he •••
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ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: He just calls you by your first name. (Laughter.)
(Inaudible comments.)
MR. IBA Y: The primary duty of our iaw enforcement department is fighting this drug problem
through law enforcement. We also have our Community Services Division focusing on coordination and
serving as a liaison with different community-based agencies. For myself, my experience is, I've been
assigned to coordinate or be a liaison officer to the Canon Kip Community House. It serves the South of
Market district in San Francisco. South of Market district is a poor area and mostly newly arrived
immigrants from the Philippines and from Asia.
What we learned, and what I learned with this community-based agency is that it works. They
provide counseling, activities-- sports activities to the youth after school, and even during school they
provide counselors that they assign to go to different schools that this youth attends. We found out that
most people who are clients to this community agency are almost drug-free because they are really busy
with sports activities, like what the Omega Boys' Club was saying. They are not bored. So, we need to
support more of these community-based agencies. I can name you a lot, but I guess you have all the list of
community-based agencies.
One more thing in my mind is for law enforcement agencies to have a conference sponsored by the
state wherein the officers from different law enforcement agencies can exchange information on gangs,
such as the mobility of gang members, drug traffickers. Recently, I went to a conference, about two
months ago; it was supposed to be an organized gang conference. The attendance was real low because
only a few are allowed to attend at the expense of the department. Most of the police officers that
attend are really just dedicated and have extra money, which some of us don't have that much. We need a
state-sponsored conference to sponsor all the police officers that deal with these problems to be able to
attend.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Bergeson.
SENATOR BERGESON: It appears that a conference like that might send some focus. I guess I
share some frustration as we see the problem continue to expand. In fact, it's no longer just Los Angeles,
San Francisco, Oakland. It's now spreading into suburban areas and the districts that I represent -Riverside, San Bernardino, Orange, Riverside. Those areas also are seeing the impact of increased gang
activity and certainly involved with the drug problems.
In your opinion, is it that we need more of what you're talking about as far as education and
prevention, or do we need to take some new direction? I mean, it seems that we are not even getting our
hands on the problem as far as really effecting a change of direction as far as the momentum of the
problem. Maybe you could comment.
Ml{ •. ll1NI :.:

Well, okoy. In brief, I reully feel tllut tllete are a yr.:at rmwy of us, al lei!:Jt
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Francisco, who are geared towards dealing with youth. What happened, most of those activities were
going on during the mid-sixties, early seventies, and as time went on, monies began to dry up and a lot of
the directors of those particular programs had other ambitions and they went under; consequently, those
programs do not exist anymore.
One of the programs that we considered to be a worthwhile program was Street Work effort. What
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were able to do was actually go to the kids where the problems were happening and address them in
terms of what was going on with them, what were their specific problems in terms of drugs, in terms of
in terms of education, and certainly in terms of their employment needs. They were
to utilize peer counselors who were equipped to deal with kids who were having problems, and
were able to bring them in to a particular facility to apprise them of jobs, GED programs, college
programs, how to gain money for access groups. That was a very vital program. Again, there's no
anymore. Consequently, we have a situation now where kids are on the street and they are
involved in gangs. I think someone here testifying mentioned that boredom was one of the key elements.
I know that's true when there aren't facilities available. There isn't a lot of people to talk to, professional
or paraprofessional. Therefore, it's very easy to backslide into those things that may be available in the
neighborhood. As of late, there is a war on drugs. What is happening is that it seems like the war is
on youth and not necessarily on drugs. And you know, this distinction has to be made, because a
lot of kids are being victimized because they don't have things to plug into.
I'd like to suggest that a Street Work program be reinstituted to begin to address some of the needs
of the kids because it's real clear that they don't know where to go, and the schools aren't always the
place that kids plug into ••• We go into our communities. We're told, "Hey, we have a drug problem here;
go deal with it," and we go and we do deal with it. The area is clear, but all we end up doing is pushing the
problem to the next neighborhood or to the next community. And I'm sure that's part and parcel of what
your problem may be. But at least with the Street Work program, what we can do is utilize youth-- those
youth who are from that community, those youth that are really identifiable and have some credibility,
to deal with some of the problems, help them get on the right track again.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: May I ask a question?
MR. IBA Y: In answer to your previous question, ma'am, what direction are we taking, I think we are
at the stage wherein we're trying every direction we can think of. We're trying education. We're trying
law enforcement. And we're trying to coordinate with different community-based agencies and as of
we're still at that stage ••••
SENATOR BERGESON: One follow-up question. We had a meeting the other day with a number of
our law enforcement school people over the problems of truancy, which of course, is not one that
involves law enforcement, but it may well becume one if that student isn't taken care of. We're
those students. They're falling between the cracks and we can't seem to get a handle on it. They
are the most susceptible, obviously, for getting into difficulty. These are high-income neighborhoods.
These are not what you may consider ghetto areas, where you would have more problems. Would you feel
that a change in law -- of course, this might require federal legislation changes as well -- to somehow
a more secure environment for those young people who simply are not adhering to either a school
routine or any kind of a supervised setting, and those are kids anywhere from 13, 16, 17 years old that
simply are not getting an education and are not in any kind of a formal program? Would you feel that
there may be some changes necessary legislatively?
MR. JONES: I certainly do. Again, just speaking to San Francisco, specifically. I know that there
was once a time where when a police officer would come in contact with a kid who was of school-age but
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was not in school, and it was our procedure to bring that child to a counseling center where the child
would receive some counseling and would be able to go on with whatever studies he had that day. Of
course, this was after speaking with the dean or the principal of the respective school. That doesn't exist
anymore for police officers.
I'm sure you know about San Francisco's budget, and we haven't been able to hire officers for well
over three years. So we're operating with very little manpower. We have one school officer to patrol 43
schools.

Plus, when he comes in contact with the youth, there is no facility to take that child to,

anymore. So yes, I do think that some legislative changes need to be made and certainly I think a facility
or the security of the child should definitely be considered.
MR. IBA Y: In addition to that, last year the San Francisco Police Department prioritized all our
responses, and I believe that that kind of problem has been prioritized as a very low priority. It's not
really a high priority and our personnel just can't handle those kind of problems.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Ms. Wright.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I know how the situation is in San Francisco. But the first thing that
comes to me when we're talking about facilities for youth and that, is it gets to a point where I don't think
we're ever going to have enough money to build all these facilities. So, I go back again to the schools.
What is wrong with using the schools, because most schools at least have gymnasiums where these
youngsters can throw a few balls against the board, or they have a playground where the younger children
could take on a volleyball game or whatever and do this after school. What would be the problem of using
it?

You know it's within your area. Do you think there would be enough facilities within the school

districts that could be used after school hours that could take up some of this after-school time these
youngsters have?
MR. IBAY: I believe it all comes down to budget again. We tried to do that in one of the schools,
and they said, "We need two janitors; we need supervisors the four hours that the gymnasium will be
open," and it takes personnel.
CHAIRMAN TORRES: Mr. Chairman, we had a bill in the Assembly, that died in the Assembly the
last night of the session, which I carried along with Assemblyman Campbell for $13 million to provide just
those kinds of programs. But some Assemblymembers, not you, Ms. Wright, were too busy trying to see
whether they could vacate Willie Brown as speaker as opposed to dealing with the legislative business. If
they were to spend less time making motions to vacate the speakership and more time in passing the bills
that were on the floor, we wouldn't have had to had this kind of response. I'm sure the Governor would
have signed it.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Mr. Torres, you know, that's the first time, I think in eight years,
I've agreed with you.
SENATOR TORRES: I said it on the floor of the Senate the last night of the session. (Laughter.)
And we lost five bills that day.
MR. JONES: I just want to underscore what the officers said here again. I know in many other
communities, they've tried to initiate such programs to utilize school and other facilities.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I think it would be a lot different than trying to come in and say we
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need money to open these centers or build these centers.

The facilities are there; let's use them.

I think we have to crack after the school districts too, because I think too many times they take
outlook and their answer is, "Oh, we need more of this and it's a liability, and we can't do this
we can't

that"; and it's negative.

MR. JONES: But, I also think the schools are overwhelmed in terms of what they are doing, the
schools that I work in, it seems like two-thirds of the day is spent with just dealing with troubled kids and
very little with education and teaching.
YWOMAN WRIGHT: Well, I think some of the organizations, though, really want to
involved. Why can't they just rent the school facilities if that's what they're concerned about?
MR. SOULETTE: I ran into that problem when I started doing the drug education program where I
would come in with a positive program for the children. Some of the teachers, the majority of the
had a very negative reaction to the program because "Here's just another thing that we're
to have to take, eventually we're going to wind up doing this, are we going to get paid the overtime; we
don't have enough time in the day to do this; we have already overcrowded classrooms." It was like a
burden for them to have us there.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Negative, negative.
SOULETTE: They didn't want us there. Because they knPw that eventually they were going to
wind up doing the program, and it was going to be up to them to finish it. So they didn't like that.
MR. JONES: May I finalize my comments? There is a Pride program, and I did do a proposal on the
Street Work program and in part, it's operating in San Francisco. It came in and exists primary through
the NIA, the Neighbors in Action. What they were able to do was to get some monies through the drug
seizure assets, and they've been able to institute a pretty broad-based program, including work with the
department in trying to clear up the corners, bringing the neighbors out and volunteering their
services to the kids and working in conjunction with the department to utilize those facilities that up
until this time had not been used for five to seven years. So there is a pilot program. But, again, going
back

monies, they're on a limited budget. Sooner or later, they're going to run out of monies, and it's
that things will go back to the way they used to, but it just seems that without that effort
there's a good possibility that it may.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT:

But I think we could put programs together that show us

facilities that are available rather than always coming in and discussing building facilities. It'd be a big
Solid dollars or not, we'll never have enough money to do all the things we want to do.
MR. JONES: That's clear. And you know, I want to say that I'm not specifically talking about
new facilities. I would like to utilize the facilities that are there; but in terms of focus, I believe
that some Street Work effort has to be made, because when you talk about schools, the kids aren't as
reachable in school. A lot of the kids that you need to reach are the ones that are not going to class, so
you need another mechanism with which to reach them.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good. Thank you. We appreciate your being here
and taking part.
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And now for the defense, we have some people from the State Department of Education -- Alicia
Ramirez-Brewer and Mary Weaver.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Come here and defend yourselves.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Why don't you make those schools available? Just provide those
free

out there for us. (Chuckles.) And how about those teachers that are getting ali that

overtime? (Laughter.) Somebody slipped that bill past me. I didn't think they ever got overtime.
MS. MARY WEAVER: I really appreciate having the opportunity to be here and speak with you. My
name is Mary Weaver. I'm the program manager of School Climate and the Student Support Services Unit
with many responsibilities. Some of the program responsibilities you've heard about or were at least
mentioned indirectly through the various testimonies that you've taken so far today. One of the major
responsibilities that you hear me talk most about is the school-law enforcement partnership. It is a
formal partnership that each of you, I assume, had some part in, in the passage of that bill some years
ago; and it has formed some good partnerships between schools and law enforcement.
Before I begin my formal testimony, what I'd really like to do is to give you each one minute to
stretch. I just have to hand it to you because of the long testimonies that you've hearing in terms of 9:30
through now; and if you wanted to stretch, feel free to do so.
The gang issue is definitely not a new problem, but rather, an old one.

Looking at some of the

hearings that have occurred as far back as 1981, gang membership statewide was the same as it is now
recorded to be in Los Angeles County alone. We're very much aware from our partnership that there are
some issues that need to be addressed, and those numbers are very much compounded by the fact that we
see the relationship from the street gangs, youth gangs, and the prison gangs, and particularly with the
pushing of drugs and the sale of drugs. We find that our padre members from the partnership have
reported back to us that they have had challenges in dealing with the infiltration or the orchestration of
street youth gangs by gangs from the adult populations. It wasn't farfetched when you heard the young
men talk about $15,000 in two weeks because I hear of numbers anywhere from $300 to $5,000 a day for
money taken in because of the sale of drugs. So it's very difficult for us statewide without support
programs to help young people who are faced with the challenge of drug or gang membership. It's either
that or an education. It can come down to earning those kinds of dollars and not earning those kinds of
dollars by working in local fast- food restaurants.
The issues and questions you have raised indicate and point to the fact that there is no one simple
solution to this monumental problem. We are saying that we can't afford to ignore it. It is in the smaller
communities. The gang problems are no longer just inner-city. We can't pretend that it's not going to
happen in the small communities of 17 to 50,000 in population.
The concept that we see that has come from our padre members working with school districts, is
there needs to be not only prevention programs, and prevention programs mean programs that will reach
every single young person in schools, but also there needs to be intervention, and then suppression
efforts.

So the partnerships that we talk about in terms of gang prevention, education can't be

emphasized enough for those three kinds of strategies-- prevention, intervention, and suppression.
WP hnvn senn the most sucrossftll prevention in terms of cunictJitHn
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The areas that we are most familiar with are in Southern California, the City of

Paramount, where the city and the school districts have come together and offered an informal 15-week
to all elementary school-age children. Their evaluation showed that before the course,
50 percent of those young people said gang membership was okay. At the end of their lessons during

15 weeks, 90 percent of that 50-percent population had changed their mind drastically. Now, whether or
not they learned what to say in the evaluation, or if indeed they changed, we'd have to still say that there
was a difference in those numbers. The City of Paramount did a four-year follow-up after the program.
They found that 98 percent of the young people going through the program were not in gangs, 92 percent
were not drug involved. So curriculum prevention is important. That program, by the way, has been
replicated in eight different communities in the state and, hopefully, is on the roll.
SENATOR BERGESON: May I ask, what kind of follow-up is anticipated to determine the longrange effects?
MS. WEAVER: In terms of that particular program, I don't know if they're going to go back and do
an additional survey. I do know that when we worked with our school district through Request, our padre
members would go out once or twice, and then they will go back as many times as it takes as far as the
Request dictates.
I would encourage each of you in your legislative attempts to consider prevention as an important

in any program. Paramount has said that it takes $72,000 a year for their community for their
prevention effort; and yet, if they were to have a sheriff's patrol car service that same community, it
would cost $84,000. In other words, prevention is $12,000 less. If indeed they were going to .••
ASSEMBL YWOtvlAN WRIGHT: Excuse me. On that point, $72,000 for a prevention program, and
what is the population of that area?
MS. WEAVER: Their population, I believe, is about 20-some thousand students in their ADA. I'm a
little shakey on it, but it's a rough---it's a smaller community.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I'm trying to think of per---per person. So roughly saying about •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: $3 a person.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: ••• $3 a person.
MS. WEAVER:

And what that provides is not only the technical assistance of people that are

with teachers, but also providing those evalutations and a follow-up.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: What about towards putting a mailer out for a political campa
(Chuckles.)
MS. WEAVER: True. That is what they have done with that particular program. They will have
uniformed officers go into the classroom to do a program called DARE-- it's a drug prevention program.
also work with community, with parents, helping in an in-service training program, and the police
department does help with working staff members and training staff members. The cost, of course,
would go up with the more sophisticated kind of patrol cars that would go out into the community.
Some challenges that need to be addressed philosophically as well any legislator knows go with the
intervention and suppression programs.

We need to help school boards, school administrators,

superintendents to realize that their careers have not been damned if they ask for assistance for gang
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We must have assurance and we must give teachers and school-site people the assurance it's
to ask for assistance. The

m can't be solved

educators alone. It cannot be solved by police

officers alone. It cannot be solved by community programs alone. So it must be that we have some type
of a PR campaign or some

of an okay from the state level, to say that it's perfectly okay to ask for

We need to have and encourage parent contacts from school administrators in a community ••.
SENATOR BERGESON: Let me just back up and find my .••
MS. WEAVER: Sure.
SENATOR BERGESON: I guess that

me a little bit. Are you saying that the State then

should take a role, say, in mandating interagency cooperation. I would assume that every community
would now have these kinds of programs and that where there was a problem, it isn't the schools that are
going to focus; it's going to be the community.
MS. WEAVER: I would say that we should not be mandating interagency cooperation. We would
certainly want to encourage that strongly and the intent of the legislation which you have passed indeed
does say that interagency approaches to problems are certainly ••••
SENATOR BERGESON: Well, we---you know, we've said that through SARVE. There are a number
of ways that I think the Legislature has tried to bring together those. So, you know, I guess I would be
dismayed if districts would feel that they are in any way intimidated by their actions and calling on
additional support within the community. I would hope that wouldn't exist.
MS. WEAVER: I would hope that it would not exist. I think there is reality that yes, it does exist
within school districts for a principal to report high incidences of crime, whether it be jail ...

(people

..::a:.:.r.:..e_c:.:.o:.:.u:.:.g.J..h---'-in_g"-'."-)_ _ _ _ and looking at it as being a high-crime school within a district. There's peer
pressure to not look bad. It is something that needs to be acknowledged and encouraged to be modest in
reporting, to be honest in the sense that yes, there is a problem; we need to address the problem. And it's
more support; it's more---it's an okay thing to ask for help. I'm not suggesting at all that we mandate that
you ask for help.
Parent contact needs to be encouraged from the state level down, that the parents be involved
into looking for new ways of prevention and intervention.
In terms of programs that we have had at the state level, I've mentioned to you about the schoollaw enforcement partnership.

There are two major thrusts in that partnership.

We have 120

professionals, both from law enforcement and from education, that do provide assistance to school
districts at no cost; 33 of those members have extensive background in gang intervention and prevention.
The other members have experience and expertise and attendance with drug-related prevention, and all
of the other kinds of areas that contribute into preventive gang-related activities. We had over 147
requests specific to gangs just last year. So it's not overwhelming, but indeed, there is more and more
concern.

There is more and more requests reaching out for assistancf!.

And we still neerl more,

obviously. We have gang members just in Los Angeles totaling 50,000.
There are other programs in the Department of Education that also support gang intervention and
prevention. And with me today is Dr. Alicia Ramirez-Brewer, who is the program manager at the High
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Risk Youth Unit.
DR. ALICIA RAMIREZ-BREWER: Good morning.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUOD.ALE: Good morning.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Is it still morning?
CHAIRMAN McCorquodale: Afternoon.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: (Inaudible.) Yes, I am the manager of the High Risk Youth Unit of the
Division-- Youth, Adult, Alternative Education Services, Specialized Program Branch. I would
like to address some legislative as well as SDE's, State Department of Education, initiatives that relate
to the

gang and violence issues. Now, we have been working with the at-risk youth.

We deal from the point of view of prevention, intervention, and recovery.

One of the first

programs that I want to address is the tenth grade counseling program. Virtually all of our California
schools do participated in this counseling program, and this was implemented in 1983. It provides a
checkpoint to assist us in the process of meeting the gradLiating requirements and attention is focused on
the at-risk youngster.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Excuse me.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Yes.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: What is your determination of what is an at-risk?
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Thank you. An at-risk youngster at any point in time may be at-risk.
There are several characteristics that make a combination of several characteristics that may be
defined or help define an at-risk youngster. An at-risk youngster may be one that is into drug abuse--substance abuse or gang activity. But that might not necessarily be the one person that is at-risk. Also
an at-risk youngster may be that person that is in a remedial a classroom situation with pressure at home.
may be, some of them, from a poor home. Possibly there might be violence in the home. The
teenage pregnant person also is at risk. At any point in time, even our gifted and talented youngster may
be at risk, especially if this person is poorly motivated and is dropping his grade poiht for that matter. So,
you can have this youngster at any time. A youngster in our schools at any point in time may be at risk. It
may range from remedial on through gifted and talented. So that's what---that's how we define our atrisk youngster.
In going back to the lOth grade counseling program, this program has been well received and our
school districts really have reported many positive results. But review at the high school level of each of
our students may be a little bit too late.

A documentation indicates that we really need earlier

intervention and at an earlier level. So that is one program ••••
There is another one that we have been working with is SB 65, authored by Senator Torres. We have
been developing and coordinating this drop-out prevention program and recovery activities since 1985
when it was placed into motion. There are several provisions of this bill that we have been working with
our division, again with respect to prevention and recovery and intervention.
One of those provisions has been the SB 65 motivation and maintenance programs. Earlier in the
you had testimony from an SB 65 outreach consultant. This is a rather unique position that has
been introduced into our schools; in essence, they become the tutor for our youngsters and they in turn
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Senator Torres. Whatever the case, the
you. And the same thing •..
case,

Rarnirez-Brewer, it is the facts.
very we

for

have not distributed

that Senate Bill 65 is implemented. I had

personal meetings with Dr. Honig close to six months ago. He gave me assurances that things will be
done, yet misrepresentations were made by Dr. Thornton to the Department of Finance that this program
was going on, and it wasn't.

It's her own little program, her own little dynasty that she wants to

implement; and quite frankly, we're going to just have to audit the Department of Education to make sure
that the monies are being used legally and properly, and I'm sick and tired of getting the runaround from
Bill Honig and all the "burrrocrats" in the State Department of Education.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I think you have some reservations about how the Department is
doing. (Laughs.)
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Senator Torres, how much money is involved in this •••?
SENATOR TORRES: Billions of dollars are involved that are not being used legally at this point by
the State Department of Education and have been held in the State Department of programs that are
almost dying in addition to the lack of leadership shown by Governor Deukme jian to continually bluepencil the money that should have gone to those programs. But quite frankly, I think George has done the
right thing, because if he would have given them the money, they would not have used it properly as they
are not using it now.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: At this point in time, the educational clinics, which is another provision
of the law as well as the alternative education work centers have proved themselves to be very
successful.
SENATOR TORRES: No credit to the Department of Education and not because the money wasn't
corning, but the fact is that it's a darn good program that the people at the local level have implemented,
and they're hurting and you're bleeding them to death because you're not giving them the money.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER:

Senator, I am---within that at-risk unit, we are responsible for the

motivation and maintenance programs and we try to provide those monies going out and facilite those
monies as fast as we can. I know that we are trying to make the effort, at least with this particular •••
SENATOR TORRES: Baloney. You're not making the effort. That is not true. That is not factually
true, and it is not true in terms of the implementation of the money that should have gone out six months
ago. I finally had to have a meeting with Honig; he made a commitment to send the money out to help
these at-risk youth, and it wasn't being done and it isn't being done.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Well, Senator, what I can say is that we're---from my particular point of
view, we are attempting to facilitate the provisions of those monies.
SENATOR TORRES: Prove it to me in Sacramento, and you will do so in front of a hearing.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Thank you.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Excuse me. Who is your immediate supervisor?
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: My immediate supervisor is Dr. Gerald Kilbert. He is the director of the
Division of Youth, Adult and Alternative Education Services. And he in turn is under the direction of Dr.
Shirley Thorton.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Ahh. Mr. Torres' friend.
SENATOR TORRES: Pardon me.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I said your friend, Thornton; is that the one you're talking about?
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has done within the State.

Another program that I think has been effective in addition to the SB 65 activities through the
outreach consultant and the other kinds of

that have been set up is the California Local

Education Reform Network. This program is at least in 50
and

a group of

urban areas such

, middle and secondary school
South Central Los Angeles,

Oakland and Delano.
What

happens is that site

teams identify problems and on-site leadership

you have a lot of

as wei! as business kinds of persons within a

community. L\nd they in essence are

are owners of the school site. As they identify
One of the strategies that's come out of this kind of

then they begin
activity is that some •••.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

Let me interrupt you. Suppose they're told that they are the

owners of the school site and the decision that they make is that the schools should stay open until ten
o'clock every

operating the recreational facilities. Would the school do it without additional money

or would they really not be the owners of the school?
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Well, I've said that the community is being told that they are owners of
the school.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

so the community decides if the buildings ought to stay

open until ten o'clock every
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER:

in essence

strategy for them. They along with •••

CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: But that's not the---if they're the owner of the builder, if I'm the
owner of a

and I decide that I want to

it open until ten o'clock every night, as long as I'm

here, I don't know of any reasons that I can't keep it open every night.
MS. WEAVER: I am aware of some schools that do do exactly as you have suggested in a unified
school district where at least they have done that ••••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: But suppose the school principal said, "No, I can't do it; I've got to
have •••"--we heard testimony here that said you have to have two custodians and a security officer and
everything else and somebody else has got to pay for it.
MS. WEAVER:

There are issues that I know lawyers have debated back and forth in terms of

liability with school plants or facilities being open without proper supervision. That's something that is
beyond my expertise, but I do know that it's an area worth exploring and taking a look at what the legal
ramifications would be for a school site administrator to make exactly that decision.

There are

communities who could use very easily and very effectively the school campuses.
CJ[N/\ Tfm

RC:f~GFSON:

Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: We heard some people say that it was important not to mislead
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• They were talking about kids and expectations, and I think the police captain that was here was
that---talked about the big lie is that children are going to be accepted in the real world even
don't possess skills-- verbal and written and dress and so forth. Are we perpetuating the
lie to the community that they own the schools when in reality they don't, and in reality what that school

principal says is what's going to be? He's the owner of the building really, in reality. The superintendent
think he owns it, but wait till he tells him that he's got to keep the building open and he doesn't want
to do

let's see how much problem the superintendent has. So are we perpetuating a big lie on that
MS. WEAVER: I'd hate to say that we're perpetuating a big lie. I think that when in my first-hand

experience with a school that was open not only year-round, but they clocked around the clock with the
prior to a lot of the law cases that deal with liability issues. And in a such a society that we have
with all our lawsuits, I'm not certain the nuances that have come about to make changes of the
factor •••
SENATOR BERGESON: If I might, Mr. Chairman. At one time, there was an automatic or a tax
available, community services tax, which communities then participated in that to make lhot revenue
available for a specific use, after-school programs and the like. With Propcsition 13, that was built into
the base; that no longer exists. It may be as a solution perhaps, because it is an additional cost, obviously
the longer the school is in operation, you do have to pay additional costs, lights, heating, and so forth.
Perhaps maybe we could look at some legislation that would again provide some revenue source through
community services that then could make those schools remain open. There's no point at all in having a
community facility and not having it available during those times that the kids really should have access

to it.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay. We probably should try to ... we've taken about 30 minutes
here
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Okay, I'll go through this. The intent is to have parents participate and
them feel that they belong on the school site.
I would like to leave you with an example. At Centennial High School in Comptom, they identified
problems and partly implemented a way to eliminate the problem or to neutralize it by organi

a

group of mothers; Mothers Against Gangs they're called. They will be coming into the school; they will be
the issues of gangs themselves. Oftentimes these mothers will be those mothers that have
been victimized or their child has been murdered or whatever the case.
So, in essence, what I'm trying to say is that the community feels empowered and this too---this
process has also been used at Delano High School and there the parents are testifying to us, saying that
they have a tool with which to work and affect the school's climate. They too feel empowered. This
is of the elemental preventive kind of process that is being used. And if a gang issue is identified, they
can be addressed by---a coming up with strategies to neutralize the problem, to just minimally neutralize
the problem.
So those are two kinds of strategies that we have used within the State Department of Education.
And now Ms. Weaver will deal with recommendations.
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CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Let's see -- do you think you might just direct those to us? Are
the

of thing that .•• ?

MS. WEAVER: Certainly. We can put that in writing.
McCORQUODALE: That would be helpful I think. We're running pretty far behind and
so I think that would be good. We'll just include those to the testimony.
Let's see if there are any other questions. Very good. Well, thank you.
MS. WEAVER: Thank you very much.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: We appreciate your coming.
DR. RAMIREZ-BREWER: Thank you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: You can take a note back that there's some mild concerns about
SB 65.
SENATOR BERGESON: You're right. (Chuckles.)
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I would imagine that-- is it Mrs. Thornton?
MS. WEAVER: Shirley Thornton is the •••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I would imagine that she has heard from Senator Torres.
MS. WEAVER: I think so.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good. Ray Alsdorf.
MR. RAY ALSDORF: Good afternoon. I didn't think I'd be waiting so long, but I'm glad I came.
I'd like to thank you for the opportunity to come here today. Some of my comments have already
been addressed. 9ut I think some of them bear to be emphasized. Basically, I'm really concerned about
the gang/drug problem. In our particular area, it's not only tied into gang or into drugs, it's also tied into
social problems as well as self-esteem issues.
I'd like to make a few points. It's interesting that we live in a society where people lock themselves
inside their homes out of fear, and particularly this is true with the elderly population of our society.
Also, I think it's interesting that we live in a society where we have a BMW-type mentality where
material wealth is a lot more important than morality. Also, I think it's important or interesting that we
have probationaries that are emulated in our schools. We had a situation here in South County a couple of
years ago where a 17-year-old student was driving to school in a Mercedes, brand new. He was also
making the house payments for his parents. And it wasn't until the BGF got actively involved in his
territory that he decided to get out of the business.
It's also interesting that we see a deterioration in our nuclear family. And we see more and more
that the police in the school districts have shouldered that responsibility. And I've got to say that in our
particular community, we have had a real working relationship for a number of years and have sponsored
many programs that have been very successful because of the relationships that we have built with our
school district.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Excuse me. How do you think you're going to get the parents to
take on the responsibility of their youngsters?
MH. ALSDOHF: I'm not sure we're going to; and from that viewpoint, I think that we need to put
more and rnore resources into police and also into the community-base organizations and also into the
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school district.
What we've seen is broken homes and we've seen more and more homes where both parents work.
so then you begin to depend on day care providers to teach your children and you tend to

less

and less time with your kids. And I don't see that changing.
AS5EMBL YWOMAN WRIGHT: I think the problem you have is when you're talking about supplying
the resources is that so many people feel---because what you're talking about is taxing, taking the money
and then spreading it out in the community. And I think the problem is that so many people are strapped
now as it is for taxes, and they certainly don't want to see their taxes increased in order to provide
services for someone who is not their responsibility. And I sometimes wonder if maybe it's the parents
and those people are direct responsible, that maybe if they were hurt a little bit dollar-wise, they'd then
take on responsibility of their own. I don't know. That's a question I throw out to you.
MR. ALSDORF: My point of view would be very similar to yours and you'd get no argument from
me. This whole issue is so complex that there's no one solution, as I'm sure you realize just listening to the
testimony today.
One of the other things that's interesting in our society, we emulate sports figurc3 and erJtertainers
that actively use drugs; and we see this very, very frequently. Almost on

::>

weekly basis, we read where

some sports figure has been involved in an arrest situation, centered around drug abuse, alcohol abuse. A
perfect example is Ben Johnson who chose winning versus the competing fairly.
It's also interesting that we live in a society where we restructure our tax laws so that communitybased organizations are no longer the benefactor of money that comes from the private sector, and that
saddens me.
I'd like to say that in South County, here in Alameda County --I work for the City of Hayward,
where we have a close relationship with Fremont, Union City and Newark, because of our gang-related
problems within those four cities -- we see an insidious problem that just absolutely plagues us. It's
interesting that we haven't truly declared war on this problem. It seems as if we give a lot of lip service
almost at every level and it saddens me that we haven't called in the Air Force or the National Guard to
involved in this problem.
In the past seven years, we've had three homicides, and that may not seem very many in
relationship to Oakland that probably has that on a daily basis. Most of our gang-related activities are
not directly drug-related. Although most of our gang members do use drugs, they do not traffic drugs.
We do see a lot of self-esteem issues. We see conflicts that are typically surrounded around turf and
female friendships. We have seen a marked increase in violence, and we had our last homicide about five
months ago. Since that time, we've had numerous assaults with deadly weapons. We've had several
sheets". We've had numerous vandalisms. We've had an assault on a fireman. We've had an
assault on a policeman.
As shared earlier by Captain Hahn of Oakland Police Department, this whole fight is really
centered around supply and demand. There seems to be a dramatic increase in the use of cocaine, since
powder cocaine has been made into rock and can be purchased so cheaply in our community. Also in our
neighborhoods, we have seen an emergence of Blood and Crip gangs; it's small, admittedly, but we are

-53-

frightened by that, and we are very concerned.
Along the lines of legislation, I think we need to look at adopting the federal standards. Our present
legislation is just too narrow. It doesn't allow us to do the job that we need to do.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: In what particular area are you talking about?
MR. ALSDORF: I'm talking about it's my understanding at this point, police officers cannot in fact
use wiretapping unless they are appointed agents of federal agencies.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Did you look upon doing something like that in your department?
MR. ALSDORF: Absolutely. I think any legal tool that we can use we ought to use and use actively.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Well, then in defense of the legislation that was passed by us, and I
agree with you, we tried to adopt the exact federal, do you think that at least the legislation empowered
you to look at getting around and using the federal standards, could at least help you in that area if
certainly not giving you the ability to use the federal standards?
MR. ALSDORF: I think what it's done is opened the door for us to use the federal standards •••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Well, we accomplished something.
MR. ALSDORF: What I see happening is the laws are becoming more law enforcement oriented,
and we see some of the case law decisions beginning to swing back toward enforcement policies, which I
think is important, particularly when it comes to combating drug-related problems.
One of the other things that's a reality is: we're outdone. We see here in Alameda County, there
was a recent hearing on the particular issue of gun dealers. It's surprising that you can purchase a
handgun and you have to wait 15 days, yet automatic weapons which we see frequently used and which we
seize frequently from gang members, the criminal element in our society can purchase those without any
delay. It seems like a small thing to change the legislation in that area to meet the handgun standards.
The other thing that I think is quite true is our justice system really breaks down at every level. I
know at the law enforcement level, we just don't have the equipment, we just don't have the resources. I
am convinced if our department hired another 25 officers today and we put them on the street, it simply
means that we would have more people in jail and the reality would be the courts would be filled,
probation and parole would be overworked, which they already are, and the jail facilities, which are
already overcrowded, would be even more overcrowded.
At the prosecution level, we see extensive delays.

I was recently involved in a gang-related

homicide that drug on for about two months. And it's unfortunate that we can't expediate that process.
We see courts and judges that are frustrated with the system, delays-- oftentimes delays because you
can't get courts or because judges aren't available. At the probation and parole level, we see those people
carrying caseloads of 100-plus cases. I don't know how you can even begin to supervise your caseload with
those kinds of caseloads.
And at the prison level, here in Alameda County, we see people doing about 25 percent or one-third
of the time that they are mandated to do because of the overcrowding in the system. I know in Contra
Costa County about seven years ago, they built a new facility. It was supposed to be the most up-to-date;
it was supposed to be the most modern facility nationwide; and initially, they were supposed to singlebunk. That lasted for about four months, and pretty soon they were double-bunking. Soon after that,
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had people in the day room and soon after that, they were asking for money to renovate the old
and they're presently applying for funds.
So I'm convinced that if we had more jails, it just would mean there would be more people in
it's kind of sad that statistically only two or three percent of all the people that commit felony
offenses ever end up in the state prison system. I know when I initially got into law enforcement,
if you committed a crime, you were found guilty, you went to jail; and that certainly is not
And on a more positive note, I happen to be one of two officers that's involved in our DARE
program. I know you've had some testimony about DARE, but just to emphasize a few things that the
DARE program does, it places a police officer in a unique position. It allow us to go into the classroom
dressed in uniform without a gun belt with no law enforcement responsibilities. I can tell you that the
kids absolutely idolize police officers, particularly at the sixth grade level and in that capacity.
The program emphasizes self-esteem. It empowers them to say no; it provides them with the skills
to say no. We provide role models. We talk about consequences. And also, the most important thing is we
them value systems. I think that's something that we need to put more energy into in our adu2ational
Along the legislation lines, I think we need a state computerized bank for gang-related intelligence
information. We have a similar data base with child abuse offenders, because these people tend to be
very mobile just as offenders in the sexual assault area are mobile. Also, I think there needs to be
enhancements for gang-related crimes. I know we have some recent legislation that allows us to seize
vehicles. But I was recently involved in a homicide where the parents' vehicle was used, and their son was
the person that pulled the trigger. He was not the driver. They certainly had no knowledge that he was
to use their van for criminal activity, and that vehicle has been in our possession for about six
months now. However, it's my conviction that that vehicle should never be returned to them; yet because
of the law as it is written now, the vehicle will be returned to them once the second offender has been
The other thing that I see in the presentations that I make in our immediate area is there is no clear
definition of what a gang is. Basically, what our department had done for many, many years is we called
our gang members youth groups; and we have moved away from that. It's really been an evolution.
the criteria that we have used is that these people are 14 to 24 years of age, that they have
association as a group, and that they claim a turf or a territory. And then, last and probably the
most important, is that they commit crimes for the profit of gangs.
I'd just like to thank you for the opportunity to come and testify. The main focus that I wanted to
forth today is that not all gangs are drug-related. Many of them that we see in our area are really
tied to social issues, turf, self-esteem, and also conflicts with female relationships. Thank you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Bergeson has a question.
SENATOR BERGESON: I thank you for your suggestions on legislation. One that you mentioned
was the computerized data bank. Would you feel this to be in addition to the Cal. ID program? And as you
now there's the immediate access that you can tap into locally at the point of booking. Is that a
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separate proposal that you're proposing?
MR. ALSDORF: It's my understanding that a lot of the

are not providing information

to Cal. ID. And if in fact that was part of the Cai. ID system, I wasn't aware of that. I know that at the
state level within the California Youth Authority, they do gain intelligence information and they have
coordinators throughout the state that actively attend local meetings and gather monikers, nicknames,
aliases in the system; but I wasn't aware that there was a state system through Cal. ID that we could use
that we could use that information.
SENATOR BERGESON: ·We can check on that. I'm not sure either, but I was just taking your
recommendations ••••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right.
MR. ALSDORF: Thank you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Very good, well, thank you.
Mr. Reed has to leave. I'm going to take him next.
MR. ISHMAEL REED: This is a short statement I've prepared. I don't know how to use the sets on
my computer where you make copies yet, so I'll have to send copies to you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay.
MR. REED: I'm Ishmael Reed. I work at the University of California, Berkeley, and I live in North
Oakland, in the ghetto there.
The so-called drug epidemic in the United States is often spoken of in terms associated with the
signs of disease. It is referred to as a pathology. Yet if Jonas Salk, for example, approached a cure for
polio in the same manner that drug pathology is treated, millions of people would still be suffering from
this body ravaging affliction.
Currently, the media and some of those holding political office are focused upon black street
gangs, specifically the Crips and the Reds as both the cause and the result of a drug epidemic when the
drug problem existed in this country long before these children were born. In fact, according to some
men, "the country has always been high." And in 1970 and early part of this century, the problem existed
mostly among women living in rural areas who were addicted to morphine. The addiction to heroin was
seen as a cure. Elijah Hughes, a black writer, once lived in a black ghetto; therefore his testimony is
quite valuable, not a particular person, but as he sees different points of view. He lived there until his
death in 1967. He traces the decline of Harlem to the influx of heroin into the streets during the early
fifties, about the time, according to Philip Agee, a former CIA agent, an alliance was forged into the CIA
Asian Anti-Communist heroine dealers. Some have suggested that these drugs were introduced to stint
the militant political enthusiasm beginning to appear.
In medicine, if one hypothesis doesn't explain things, you move on to the next one. But in popular
media, you emphasize what sells; in this case, black pathology. And I've just run off a list stating twothirds of the unwed mothers in this country are white, yet all we hear about are the black ones. Twothirds of the people on welfare are white, yet all we hear about is black people on welfare. The majority
of people who are involved in rape cases are white, yet we always hear about black rapists, Willie
Horton's rape, Willie Horton's death. I can go on and on! Child abuse, battered women, battered men, the
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whole thing. It seems like blacks are the scapegoat in this matter; in this case, black mythology.
Politicians are not scientists and often merchandise an issue --I mean, present company excluded.
Cl-iAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Those other guys. (Laughter.)
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Oh, thanks.
MR. REED: ••• often merchandise issues that they think will gain votes. It was reported on CNN's
"Money line" last week that American bankers laundered $110 billion in drug money. American bankers. I
that three or four bankers get together to conspire to launder drug money, they constitute a
gang, right? That a gang in my view.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: (Chuckles.) Well, it depends on their age. Now, you said it was
was it, 25? (Laughter.)
MR. REED: (Inaudible due to cross-talking.) So this was on CNN, and they laundered $110 billion in
money; $90 billion of which is sent overseas, okay?

The commentator also said that federal

regulators had lackadaisical attitudes towards the operation. I might add that I remember there was a 22
year old busted for being a drug kingpin and he had $380,000 in the bank. And somebody sold him a house
for a quarter of a million dollars. He was terrorizing my neighborhood, but his neighbors were told that
he was very quiet. They always saw BMW's and Mercedes going out of his

ch~iveway.

I wondering why---

what kind of real estate person would sell a kid 22 years old such a house and how he would have $380,000.
The fact is, I've been with the bank for some 21 years and they always check my identification, all right?
And I've got about $20,000 with them. (Laughter.) Okay.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: You don't look affluent.
MR. REED: Right. A few months before I'd read about this bank laundering, I'd written a wonderful
suggesting that if the Bush campaign were so eager to lynch black drug traffickers, then why not
execute bankers who launder money and why aren't they considered drug traffickers. My agent sent it to
a magazine circulation and received a note from the executive editor who said that bankers weren't
committing arson or mugging people, and I was just trying to make the rich feel guilty.
Well, first of all, I think the rich care more about the whales trapped in ice than about laundering
fortunes. They have a lot to feel guilty about. Secondly, bankers who launder money may not be mugging
on the street, but they are mugging millions of people by depriving them of cash through these
multibillion dollar stickup operations which causes millions of

to be exported overseas and

contributes to the trade deficit.
The public and its representatives are outraged by the activities of the black student gangs whose
activities are sensationalized by media and those in political office, while the activities of bankers,
realtors, gun shop owners, and according to Jesse Jackson in an interview with some street gangs in Los
we've only really got a 15-day waiting period. He says that these factories of gun-killing assault
weapons sold right across the counter on the same day with no questions asked, all right? That was Jesse
Jackson and attributed to an interview published in the New York Times.
Okay, so what about realtors, gun shop owners, and others of the middle class, why are they
ignored? Would scientists refuse to explore a virus or a bacteria that would possibly be the
source of disease? The fact that blacks are singled out for blame is not only irrational but a phenomenon
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that can be considered racist. Twenty-one ethnic groups are involved in drug trafficking according to
the Manhattan(?) United States Attorney, Rudolph Giuliani. He went on to say they're

ignored; as a

matter of fact, some so-called model minorities are involved in our drug trafficking and 40 percent of the
heroin now distributed in New York is distributed by Chinese American gangs, all right?
This is emphasizing the black take-out end of the operation and making scant mention of drug
activities among the white middle class who is perceived as babying researchers who the media is fed
upon by the pathology. Black pathology is fed by shows which now have to pay their way like the Gong
Show by politicians who want to enter the certain votes while the larger problem of white pathology is
represented. Based upon my research, the white suburbs are up to their neck in drugs. I just left the
Silicon Valley yesterday; I think it's probably a larger populated area than in Oakland.
On August 30, the day when a front-page story in the New York Times reported shocking
information that as much cocaine pregnancies exist in the suburbs as in the city, the headlines that
evening were about the drug problem of a black footbali player. I've collected boxes and boxes of
newspaper clippings about white middle class involvement in the manufacture and supply side of the drug
operation which were treated by the media as one-day stories.
Law enforcement agents and former Secretary of Transportation Cole are among the many who
have said that there is more of a drug problem in the suburbs than in the inner city because people in the
suburbs have more money to spend on drugs. It stands to reason. A woman from the Christie Institute
said that she visited a wealthy, white high school where the boys were selling cocaine and the girls were
prostituting themselves to pay for it; and during Jackson's campaign, Jesse Jackson's campaign went to
squeaky clean high schools in the Midwest, the show of hands which appeared when he asked his questions
about drug activities in the high schools he visited indicated that drugs were a huge problem. In the
discussion of the drug problem, hysteria is often substituted for reason. Scientists say there is nothing
like combining data, statistics, with actual experience. The public discussion of legalization of drugs is
controlled by the black and white middle class people who make a long-distance analysis of problems
about which they had no experience. As someone who actually lives in the black ghetto, I find some of
their observations to be counterproductive. For example, one conservative friend of mine who the media
calls hot and cold and an expert on the inner-city problem, he lives in the country. He has commented
about white people in the ghettos as not using cocaine. Take my word for it-- he doesn't know what he's
talking about. This is a mentality that is communicated as black pathology. On October 28, they did a
story about a black family in Detroit who was engaged in distributing one-third of the city's cocaine, but
the network wasn't interested in the wholesaler supplying it. It was interested in the entertainment.
The drug problem needs to be approached realistically. To blame everything on black people and to
ignore the involvement of government, white middle class, bankers, law enforcement's participation in
drug trafficking and documented articles of the New York Times and the San Francisco Chronicle is a
way of merely supporting another addiction -- the addiction to scapegoating. Thanks for listening.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Thank you. Very good; any questions? Very good. Thank you. We
appreciate your corning and if you wanted to •••
MR. REED: I'll send them out to you.
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CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: ••• you can make a copy of it or you just give it to .••
MR. REED: I'll make copies and send it •.•
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: You could give it to the consultant and he'll copy it, but
you can send it.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I just have one little short question. Listening to you, most of your
presentation is dealing with drugs, and I would assume that you feel that the gangs, which are
the theme of this meeting, that gangs are drug-related.
MR. REED: I don't know. I don't pretend to be academic. I don't know what contends to be when
say a gang, you know. My opinion-- the drug problem is so widespread in this society, and I'm still a
who only reads newspapers and I know that, and I make clippings from newspapers.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: (Inaudible due to cross-talking.)
MR. REED: And I think that we're only emphasizing one aspect of it.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Yeah, okay. That was the whole point, because to me it was in the
discussion of gangs and your whole presentation was on drugs.
MR. REED: But you can't---you can't---I'm saying you can't take one part of this who!P. problem out
analyze it without analyzing the other components of the problem. That's all I'm saying in essence.
In my opinion, I think the stuff ought to be legalized, all right?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Oh-ho ••••
MR. REED: Well, we can discuss that, but I mean in the situation I'm living in it would relieve--take a lot of pressure off our neighborhoods if we didn't have to deal with these gangs and people---armed
hoodlums coming into our neighborhoods. I think people who are against that don't live around them. Do
you understand what I mean? I mean, it depends upon your point of view. My point of view is shaped by
my experience, and I can understand why people in suburbs who don't have to live around this, take
another point of view. I think people are so cynical now that what they're calling for are lightened(?)
drugpins(?) -- you know what I mean? People who will sort of structure this operation so it doesn't lead
to all this violence.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: I'd be fearful of what your direction would take. An example: we
have the Fuller Brush man knocking on the door selling drugs.
MR. REED: Well, I'll tell you-- I'll make one last comment.
McCORQUODALE: The Fuller Brush man doesn't come because there's not enough
money to be made ••• (Inaudible due to cross-talking.)
MR. REED: I'll make one last comment.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: The Avon lady.
MR. REED: Somebody said that all right, if you wanted to get over an Oedipus complex, go live
your mother for a couple of weeks and that would do it. And I make the same suggestion. If you live
in the neighborhood I live in, maybe your mind will change about these things.
MR. AUBREY LA BRIE:

Ishmael, we had invited you because you wrote an article about the

you were experiencing in your own neighborhood with drugs. Were those gangs involved, and
what has happened with that situation in your neighborhood?
-59-

MR. REED: Well, I think the Home Alert program, originally the Home Alert program, discouraged
that operation. The operation is not as ••••
MR. LA BRIE: Was that a gang or just individuals out there?
MR. REED: Well, it was just a lot of traffic.
MR. LA BRIE: Oh, okay.
MR. REED: And there was a lot of people, a lot of disturbance. But I think, the neighbors got
together and •••
MR. LA BRIE: You say the Home Alert program helped that.
MR. REED: The Home Alert is a valuable program. I think maybe my one concrete suggestion
would be that more funds can be devoted to the Home Alert program.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Very good, thank you. Gil Ward.
MR. GIL WARD: Hi. The committee is running a little late. Maybe we can make this brief.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Which one is Gil Ward?
MR. WARD: I am Gil Ward and this is Denny Tompkins. We're both probation officers and we got
the notice that the committee was going to meet here in Oakland a little late, so we have not written
anything, but we did want to appear before the committee because we live with the problem and we have
an axe to grind about the problem, and you're looking for legislative solutions. Between the two of us, we
represent about 50 years of experience dealing with drugs. This gang phenomena that has come up in the
last ten years we see as really driven by the economics of drugs. As probation officers, we're at the end
of law enforcement spectrum.

We get the people who have been caught and are still living in the

community, and we have the core problems on our caseloads, and we're always looking for viable
resources to deal with the individuals that the courts have returned to the community. I know the prisons
are filled with people, but probation statewide is filled with trying to find community solutions to some
of the social problems that we have. Our caseloads are large. Everyone complains about that, but we're
always looking for resources, and legislative solutions is where we start with our resources. Most laws
are about ten years behind the problem. I wanted to come here today to kind of point that out to you
people because you're up in Sacramento and you don't get out very often and you want to see what's
happening out there in the real world. Okay.
Well, in Alameda County, we have 14,000 people on adult probation; half of them have drug
involvement. We have no idea how many of them have gang involvement, because those are secrets. We
have about 6,000 juveniles on probation; half of them are involved in serious drug usage, sales, and other
involvements. We have lots of people from Alameda County who are sent to the Youth Authority and
prison every month, but we also have a lot of people who are still living here being victimized behind
drugs. So we're always looking for solutions, and this gang problem is a new thing for probation officers
like all law enforcement. Because all of our efforts is in individualizing some kind of program for
whoever qet~l into trouble. When somebody

gt~ts

convicted of a crime in

tht~

:>tate of raliforniu, tho idea

is to individualize the judgment of the court, the sentence of the court, and then to find a solution to that
person's problem and provide help for that person so he gets out of that kind of trouble. That's the whole
point of the law enforcement process that we have. We talk about suppression or repression of crime, but
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really what we do is we intervene in people's lives and find some way to enable them to

out of their

problems. Okay, now we're focusing on drugs.
You know the
half

drug laws that were

and they're called diversion.

by the Legislature are now almost a decade and a

And diversion was driven by the idea that middle-class and

blue-collar kids were getting into drugs, and they wanted a way to save those people from the criminal
penalties that might hamper them in their future lives. So we passed these massive diversion laws, so we
could divert people into specific programs so they wouldn't be tagged with a criminal record; and when
they got over their problem, they could go on and live their lives. But those were middle-class laws. And
we had lots of

treatment programs for those people that no longer exist. The people

the system now are not middle class. We don't have any programs for them. We still have the laws, but
we don't have any money to provide community-based drug treatment facilities. What we have to deal
with when a person comes through the court system who has an acknowledged problem with

and

wants to separate himself from the sale of drugs and the use of drugs is that we don't have a program. He
either has to beg a program and go free or he has to buy his own program.
So my main point to the legislative committee here today is that if you're

to

thi:~k

about

solutions to the rampant drug problem that we have throughout the State af California, you better put
some money behind your words and start flowing money to people tike rne who know where to spend that
money in community-based treatment organizations. I know the organizations in Alameda County -- to
take seed money and develop treatment programs. I know people who will take in people off the streets,
take them out of Oakland, put them in a safe environment, and provide qualified professional help for
them.

But I've got no money to buy those community-based organizations. I can't do those kinds of

programs. Only the community can do those kinds of programs, and it takes money. Now, there is no
money for those kinds of programs. Period.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: What's your -- I know except I'm going to give you the chance to
respond to it, but what's your rationale that it's the state that ought to provide the money, because the
person lives in a local community that has the taxing ability, it lives in a---he's going to be arrested by
local resources; he's going to be tried by local resources; he's going to be held in local jails. The cost is all
on the local. If you're able to provide an alternative way to deal with that person and you save these
facilities, the money, you're not saving the state money,

saving the local money. So why should the

state fund a program that saves the local money?
MR. WARD:

Basically because you mandate the problem when you pass the law. If you pass a

diversion law and don't put any money behind it, you're not putting your money behind a program that you
believe in. All you're doing is passing the law. Now you will have to be responsible for it because you pay
for the prisons, and you pay for the parole. County pays for all the law enforcement officers in here and
all of the p1·obation officers in here. The state doesn't pay any of my salary.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Right.
MR. WARD: They pass the laws and they say, "Now, Ward, you go ahead and do something with that
person." And I say, "Wait a minute, the state has mandated the program; let's have some of the state
money flow into what the law says I have to do." Now, when we had the initial diversion laws in the State
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of California, the state didn't have very much to do with the treatment programs; that was all federally
mandated money that ran all of the community-based residential treatment programs that I used to
utilize for the people who were motivated to get out of the difficult area. Now, you want to pass the buck
to the feds, but they say, "No, it's a state problem."
SENATOR BERGESON: Just to refresh my memory --you're speaking of the AB 90 program where
there was an incentive to provide diversion in order to recapture certain funding, is that correct?
MR. WARD:

AB 90 still lives.

Alameda County still utilizes AB 90 money for specialized

programs.
SENATOR BERGESON: So division still is an option though. I mean, it's not fully mandated upon
that that's the rule of thumb in making that judgment. I think that should be made clear. It's not a
mandate as such. That's an option that's available.
MR. WARD: It's a legal option.
SENATOR BERGESON: And through AB 90 funding, those diversion programs were to be provided;
at least that's my recollection.
MR. WARD: Yeah. As a point of issue, the Alameda County Probation Department spends about
$2 million of AB 90 money for a major prevention and diversion program for runaway, truant, and status

offenders. Alameda County has 14 community-based organizations who deal with kids prior to •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Of course, again those are probably more likely to be the middleclass kid and not the ghetto kid.
MR. WARD: No, that pretty much crosses the board.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: The runaway? The status offenders?
MR. WARD: Yeah, the runaways. Uh-huh. Pretty much across-the-board.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: •.•• different in this county than in most counties then.
MR. WARD: This is an unusual county in terms of its utilization of AB 90 money and the runaway
program in this particular county for youth. It has a model program that a lot of other counties have tried
to copy for status offenders, the incorrigible, runaway, and truant kids.
The police officer who spoke just a minute ago runs a major youth service bureau that diverts many,
many kids out of the criminal justice system, and they have counselors and people who work with the
families and the kids trying to divert them at that end of the process. But there are adult diversion laws
as well.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay, you have Mr. Tompkins •••.
MR. DENNY TOMPKINS: Yes, Mr. Ward addressed one part of the issue, and I'm going to address
another part of the issue. I don't think we could function totally without one from the other.
I work in the adult division. I supervise about 115 adult felons and misdemeanants; about 60 percent
of them are felons.
c:l~mloAci.

It's supposed to be a specialized, intensive supervision from my runaway gang

/\nd that's a pretty loose definition because you'd have to function fairly loosely in supervising

those many people.
I talk about the drug and the gang issues as a marriage; so therefore, I do marriage counseling on my
job. I talk about how people get---with them, I talk about how people get involved in drugs and how they
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involved in gang activities. I think it's very difficult to talk about one without the other. Here in the
of Oakland, they do have real, very sophisticated, adolescent-age street gangs that do nothing

Ci

deal crack cocaine. The

that have been mentioned to the

accurate. We have other gangs involved in what were

this morning I think are

out-and-out turf violence,

and everything.
Dealing with the adult system, I see an increasing level of violence in my caseload being caused
kind of activity; not all of it directly drug-related, some of it directly drug-related.
Working the adult system, I think more in terms of punishment and I think more in terms of
fit the crime, as that old adage goes. In my own personal opinion as a private citizen and
my opinion as an adult professional working in my present job, I think the Determinate Sentencing Law-DSL, commonly referred to-- is probably one of the biggest tragedies to ever hit the State of California
terms of making the punishment fit the crime. The Committee in its letter

about

laws. I'll stick my head on a chopping block and say we should start out by repealing the DSL.
Get rid of it. Throw it out and go to the federal system for punishment. The ISL, the Indeterminate
Sentencing Law, was a hoax because that was defined erroneously anyway, because you don't rehabilitate
people in prison. People should go prison for punishment; if that is spelled out to them loud and clear,
then they will respect the law. I can testify loud and cleaf, but I hav8 taken people on my caseload on
eyeball-to-eyeball on my caseload and said, "I'm not recommending that you do twelve months in
so you can rest; I'm recommending you do twelve months in county jail so you can be punished for
what you did, period. Look at it that way and enjoy it, because that's the reason you're going there."
Now, if we approach tt from that perspective, I think you're going to find people thinking more and more
in terms of the consequences about what they're doing. Now there's another part of this -- we can get
psychological and all that -- how people on dope don't think about what they're doing while they're
committing crimes; that's all valid arguments. We can all accept that. There's another aspect of the
criminal population that I think will respond if it is spelled out that way.
Earlier somebody mentioned the word "lies", and I think that's what we're doing if we keep dropping
the criminal population. We're reinforcing that in that population through the laws that we have
now. They're extremely inadequate laws. They're keeping the violent people on the street that
shouldn't be on the street. I'll scream and yell about th<Jt -- working with violent adults.
Mr. Alsdorf and other people addressed the issue of that statewide gang computer. We have
real

highly mobile, adolescent-age street gangs who are equally as mobile and equally as
of the same level of violence that you read and hear about in the mass media when they address

the international organized crime networks. When we're dealing with that, we have to have a way of
these people, both adults and juveniles. I think setting that up on a computer, and I'm not versed
on the Cal. ID system, so I am not really in a position to address that, but in the street gang task force and
the prison gang task force meetings that I attend, they're already discussing implementing some kind of a
real high-tech computer utilizing a way of tracking because I mean they move all over the country, so we
need to address something like that.
As for probation funds, yeah, we need more money in the probation department.
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My bias is

intensive probation supervision. My bias is low caseioads. I feel strongly, and I think I can---I think I've
proven statistically that if I was working in this kind of

that I can handle 70-75

violent gang

members, high violent drug dealers, if I have that kind of number. You can't do it once you slide over 100
cases. You're bouncing from one crisis to another; in a lot of cases in our present judicial system, those
crisis are mandated by what we commonly refer to as paperwork. (Chuckles.) Just moving from one pile
of papers to the other to keep cases under control, statistically to keep them under control, we're forced
into this. So that's where my bias is. Low caseloads. Real intensive supervision. Just sort of cause our
criminals to just live, eat and sleep; everytime there's a knock on the door it might be the P .0. And I
think you make an impact on the criminal system that way. Thanks a lot.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: All right, very good. Well, thank you. We appreciate your coming
and testifying today.
MR. TOMPKINS: Thank you.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Steve Carlson.
MR. STEVEN R. CARLSON: My name is Steve Carlson and I'm here, not representing the State
Department of Mental Health, but I'm here representing the Sanger Unified School District. And if I have
my way, I'll put Mr. Ward out of business.
Yesterday, I met with a group of five young men that in all likelihood could end up seeing Mr. Ward
in about ten years. Ten years-- it seems like a long way away. We can identify kids that are at risk of
having adjustive problems and having juvenile delinquency behavior long before they're in high school,
long before they're in junior high school. You heard from a couple of police officers earlier today who
said fourth grade might be too old. I mean, we're too late in fourth grade. They're absolutely right. We
can identify kids that are having adjustment problems that are likely to be turning toward drugs and gang
activity in first, second, and third grade; and that's what I'm going to talk about today.
We have a program in the Sanger Unified School District called the Primary Intervention Project,
and you may have heard a little bit about it in the past. Let me read just a portion-- you're going to be
getting a copy of all of this. This is a letter from Judge Dennis Caeton, who is the juvenile justice judge
for Fresno County. He said, " ••• this program is perhaps the most needed and the very best priamry
delinquency prevention program that could result from governmental intervention."
You're going to hear a lot of testimony.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: You want to pass those out?
MR. CARLSON: And you will hear about a great number of programs that talk about wonderful
results, and I have no doubt that some are wonderful. Some of the kids that you saw speaking today, you
know, I have no doubt that some of those kids would be in the juvenile justice system right now if it were
not for this program that they're involved in right at this time. But none of the programs that you can
hear about will have the type of research backing that this program has.

This is the most highly

researched, school-based mental health program in our country, bar none. It's been in operation for 30
yr~nrs itl

Rodwntt'lr, New York.

A~:iSlMfJL

YWDMAN

Wr~ICHT:

When did you institute this in Sanger"

MR. CARLSON: We started three years ago.
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ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Three years ago.
MR. CARLSON: It's been in California for .••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Was it your school board that made that determination or ••• ?
MR. CARLSON: The school board made the determination and our first two programs were
through a joint project between the State Department of Mental Health, Fresno County Mental Health,
and the school district.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Are you aware of the Ventura project? Very heavily involved in it?
MR. CARLSON: Yes.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Where would this fit into that program? Would that be •••?
MR. CARLSON:

As I understand the Ventura project, you're identifying kids that are already

problems.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: At risk?
MR. CARLSON: Yeah. We're identifying kids about three or four years before ••.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Before that.
MR. CARLSON: ••• they would end up in the Ventura project.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: So your program and what we're doin'] in Ventura could almost be
hand-in-hand, couldn't it?
MR. CARLSON: Yes.
SENATOR BERGESON: Question.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Senator Bergeson.
MR. CARLSON: Yes.
SENATOR BERGESON: One of the concerns, of course, that many of us involved in education have
had for many years is the problem of labeling kids. You may have kids and sooner or later they know
they're within a certain labeled group, and whether this then brings about a self-fulfilling prophecy,
whether those kids are destined to be a certain way and so they're going to prove that you're right or
they'll prove that you're wrong. Would you just care to comment on that because I think that's
been one of the problems many have had as far as accepting these kinds of programs.
MR. CARLSON: The range of kids that we have in the program really prevents that labeling. We do
not have just the acting-out kids. We've got kids that are social misfits. We've got kids that have learning
We have kids that are GATE-- gifted. When you have that variety coming into the program,
kids don't see a particular type of student going in.
SENATOR BERGESON: What's the acceptance of the parents in these programs? Are they very
supportive?
MR. CARLSON: Extremely high. Extremely high. In fact, our first year in the program at the twoschool sites, we probably had about five parents that turned us down, that didn't want to have anything to
do with the program, and that was fine. The second semester of the program, in the same year, all but
two of them carne back; so it's three out of the five came back and said, "I want to get my child in; I heard
good things from my relatives -- good things from the kids down the street." When people see good things
happening with kids, they get excited about it, and they back it. And that's what's happened within our
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school district. We started out at two school sites; now we are currently in operation at seven sites, and
we hope by January 1 to have it in all ten elementary schools in the district.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Okay. Are there any questions? Well, good. Good luck to you on
it.
iv1R. CARLSON: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE:

Hector Mendez, Executive Director, La Familia Counseling

Center.
Mf~.

LA BRIE: Mr. Mendez, you need the ••.•

MR. HECTOR MENDEZ: I have problems. I'm not bringing the tape due to technical problem, but I
hope that .••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yeah, having technical difficulties, huh?
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Technical difficulties.
MR. MENDEZ: Well, this happens when you don't have the money and the right equipment at the
right time. However, we'll be meeting because I think we should work to make a presentation taking the
youth into consideration.
I appreciate having been invited to talk to you today and knowing clearly that these hearings on
gangs and related activities. I would like to present to you some of our effort, a very creative effort to
strengthen, actually, the leadership of youth in a manner that is appropriate and culturally relevant in
this society. We had hoped, as I said, to bring in the tape; we will be sending it to you in the mail as part of
my presentation for the record.
MS. CHAMBLEE: Could you talk into the mike a little more, please?
MR. MENDEZ: I represent an agency called La Familia Counseling Service. Can you hear?
MS. CHAMBLEE: Not really.
MR. MENDEZ: Can you hear? Can you hear?
I represent La Familia Counseling Service, a community-based organization located in Southern
Alameda County, which is designed to take care of the needs of Latino families. This agency has mostly
adults. It includes a bilingual-bicultural counseling program, preventive services in mental health (that
is, consultation, education and information), case management for developmentally disabled individuals
and their families, a children's day treatment program for severely emotionally disturbed children and
Hijos del Sol.
La Familia discovered that effective service delivery for a bilingual-bicultural population requires
basic changes from traditional treatment models. Such changes involved the integration of 'raza' social
and cultural realities and sociopolitical conflicts into the philosophy and methodology of the service
program.
Hijos del Sol is the youth component of La Familia Counseling Service. The program serves Latino
youth ages 13 to 18 residing in Southern Alameda County. It utili/f;s a r.ultural approL!ch to rnsolvinq
problems within a preventive framework. Services nre organized into four

~~u!Tlpommts:

rnotiv8cion,

creation colectiva, familia, and advocacy. Staff members have participated in a number of projects
directed at integrating positive skills and experiences for youth, developing youth leadership, and
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family and community networks.
Familia Counseling Service is well staffed by qualified individuals. It maintains graduate level
in clinical and

Personnel in the youth

are B.S. level

Executive Director is a licensed Clinical Social Worker and a graduate of UCLA.
(Portion of the testimony lost due to recorder malfunction.)
We want to increase in San Francisco our program for dealing with youth and the answer is that we
become more of a burden on the taxpayers. It's interesting that, you know, the lawmakers have forgotten
or lack

of dealing with young people. Youth can do a number of important things when

are properly motivated. And when you talk about the consciousness and leadership potential of
young people to politicians, their reaction to this is to increase the police. Let's repress the hell out of
them and teach them a lesson. We have to keep them in line. A lot of those departments are, you know,
involving the youth in positive or constructive activities, and we need to continue to look at that. That is
better for the youth than being repressive.
The other thing, the other concept considered from our perspective is that we shouldn't look at this
contrast in multicultural backgrounds as something negative. Here in Oakland we hav& such contrasts in
and we are blessed in so many different ways. Similiarly, I thin:: it's great for the people of
California to know that eleven languages are spoken by our various cultural groups, eleven languages.
In my area, we have a problem.

We have gangs coming in, some based on their cultural

backgrounds. What should be done about this problem? There have been two responses to this question;
you know, put into a computer all these gang leaders, arrest them and send them to prison.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: But you know, you're talking about, probably, to some extent, a
little different population than the ones to a larger extent the people you're talking about are not
problems. They have some concerns and problems that need to be dealt with, but how do you deal with six
young people who had dinner at a restaurant in San Francisco, leave the restaurant to get in their car to
go home, and a gang runs up to them and stabs one of the youngsters, one of the young people, and he's
dead. I mean, maybe there needed to be a little more reprisal. I mean, that kid's dead.
MR MENDEZ: ••• was it the gang members that actually committed assault.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Just a few blocks from here they shot up a school. Shot innocent
school children.
MR. MENDEZ: I agree with you. Yeah, I agree. Exactly •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Shouldn't they be reprised a little more?
MR. MENDEZ: Absolutely, absolutely, I think. But you know, if you're going to concentrate on the
you're going to forget about what the cost of what's going on, and I think that's where we're falling
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: But over and over •••
MR. MENDEZ: ••• So we need to to put the money into solving the problem by increasing the police
or, you know, the police should have been there or whatever, and let's put these kids in jail and forget
about it. That's what I've been telling you. I want you to listen to me. I'm saying that if you don't go back
to the root, you won't find the solutions to the problems.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: For 12,000 or 13,000 fairly easily recorded years in the past, and
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maybe beyond that because we didn't have---we aren't as able to interpret what happened, families and
individuals banded together and primarily for one common reason:

protection.

That was their

motivation. And it took 5,000 to 6,000 years before there were other reasons that they got together. It
was for protection-- it was the primary thing. So I think that still to today, we band together to a great
extent in society. That's sort of society's number one role.
The other thing is heritage, family traditions that want to be carried on, those are just like such an
instant period of time, but they only relate back to 30 or 40 years, that society took any role in that. That
was all family.

Until then, the whole emphasis was on protection.

And so as we got away from

protection, maybe government is doing that a lot less well, and maybe our answer has to be that
organizations like yours, a major part of your effort has to be to battle to keep your organization going by
selling yourself to your constituents.
We're a little bit---we have an advantage. We say, here's our constituents and the Constitution says
that we're going to be elected, so we don't have to work on finding our constituents, we know where they
are. We have to get reelected. But you have to find your constituents. And over and over, even the young
people today were telling us, and the police and the mental health people today were telling us, that the
answer is going to come from the community -- that that's its role.

But we can't abandon our

governmental responsibility of providing protection. We're not providing that today because there is not
any protection. They're right in saying that. The police pointed out that if you drive down the street, if
you just go from here, three blocks over, and count the houses that have bars on their windows and doors
and they close those at night. Those individuals are locked in jail. They're in jail at night. They won't
leave. They're elderly people. They're poor people who can't get out and don't have a lot of way to get
out, and they're in jail. And I have a feeling that if they were communicating to us, if we had gotten them
here, they'd be telling us to be a little more reprisal oriented. But we've got to have some freedom to
move out in our community.
MR. MENDEZ: You know, I understand that.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I don't disagree with what you're doing. I think from what you're
telling us here what you're doing is all very good, and I'm in complete support of that. But I think that if
we get away from saying that, well, let's don't fill the 25 police vacancies that the police officer was
telling us about and transfer that money to your organization or others, I wonder if that's really the role
of society though, or if it's better to say to you, you're doing a great job with what you've got.
MR. MENDEZ: You know, I understand. This is exactly the rationale of the federal government.
Let's put, you know, a billion dollar a day expenditure in the defense department and to hell with the
human needs. That's exactly the analogy. I think we have to stop and rethink ourselves for the sake of
society.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I don't agree with them, but I don't know whether they're wrong or
not.
MR. MENDEZ: Pardon.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: I don't agree with the federal government, but I'm not sure that I
can argue that they're necessarily wrong.
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MR. MENDEZ: Yeah, from the perspective •••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yeah, because we're, you know, it's all a part of an experiment.
MR. MENDEZ: I think we need to talk about balance .••
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Yeah, that makes sense.
MR. MENDEZ: There's a lot of ••••
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: Excuse me. I'm going to disagree with you. The reason I'm going to
disagree with you is because in the sixties, the amount of money that was spent on defense and the
amount of money that was spent on social programs, there was more spent on defense then there was on
social programs.
MR. MENDEZ: That was different. The United States at that time was in war, a war that was
extremely expensive, extremely expensive.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: And right now, we're spending more on social programs than we are
on defense. And I really think what we have to look at is, "Let's do some housecleaning, look at your
social programs."

You're getting the bulk of the money from the budget on them, and look at those

programs. Make sure they're doing what they're supposed to do. I think if we took every govc;rnment
program and we built accountability into it and made them accountable f'Jr the money they spend and
prove that they're taking a child or they're taking a family or whslever and truly helping them to help
themselves, I think we'd be a lot better off. But we spend so much money, and we still have the same
problem and that frustrates me. It really does. We still have the same problems in our social programs
that we had 20 years ago. We should be showing some improvement and we're not, because we really don't
make these programs accountable. We don't make them prove that they're doing what they should be
doing for those children or for those families. And that bothers me.
MR. MENDEZ: I challenge you to come see my program.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, your program does sound good. I like what you're doing. I
mean, I like the philosophy behind what you're doing.
ASSEMBLYWOMAN WRIGHT: (Inaudible due to cross-talking.) I'm not disagreeing. I think it's
tremendous.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: It's just I think maybe the strength of your program is that you're
the one that's running it and you're the one responsible for

the money for it, and you don't have the

strings attached to it. But maybe if we attached some government strings to it, you wouldn't
be doing as well as you're doing.
ASSEMBYWOMAN WRIGHT: Because if we give you money, we're going to tell you how to spend it.
SENATOR BERGESON: Doesn't it all boil down to relationships though, of people caring, concern,
commitment? I think that's where you find success. You can find a lot of money being expended for
anything if you don't have that concentrated commitment and real concern for the effects of the
program.
MR. MENDEZ: I think it boils down to, you know, you look at a human being from a perspective of
biological needs balancing, or versus the emotional needs. We have hungry people.
SENATOR BERGESON: No, it's people caring.
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MR. MENDEZ: But, you know, ••• (Inaudible due to cross-talking.)
SENATOR BERGESON: People caring.
MR. MENDEZ: ••• and the caring is not enough sometimes. With the other forces that keep us from,
you know, what we hope to do.
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, we appreciate your coming. It looks like we've outlasted
our audience. We still have a couple of loyal folks who continue to sit in here.
SENATOR BERGESON: Maybe they want to speak. (Laughter.)
CHAIRMAN McCORQUODALE: Well, we have gone through our agenda and we appreciate all the
participation today and the members who stayed till the end.
---aDo---
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